
                  

VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

Monday, April 12, 2021 
Observe live ZOOM meeting (Online or Call-in)  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 

ROLL CALL 
 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES: 

 Approval of the Minutes from the March 20, 2021 Special Meeting of the Council 

 Approval of the Minutes from the March 20, 2021 Closed Session Meeting of the Council 

 Approval of the Minutes from the March 22, 2021 Regular Meeting of the Council 

 Approval of the Minutes from the March 27, 2021 Special Meeting of the Council 

 Approval of the Minutes from the March 27, 2021 Closed Session Meeting of the Council 

 Approval of the Minutes from the April 8, 2021 Closed Session Meeting of the Council 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 

 Any Public Comments for the April 12th, 7:00 PM (ONLINE) Council Meeting are REQUIRED to be sent in advance BEFORE 6:30 
PM by EMAIL to the Village Clerk (Vanessa Moritz, vmoritz@forestpark.net)   

 
DEPARTMENT REPORTS: 

 
BILLS BY RESOLUTION:     

 Bills by Resolution 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS    
 

NEW BUSINESS: 
1. Ordinance Authorizing the Execution of an Amendment to a Planned Unit Development (PUD) Agreement and Granting a 

Conditional Use Permit for an Amendment to a PUD Agreement for Farmington Foods in the Village, (PC 2021-01:  7419, 7431, 
7445 Franklin) 

2. Resolution Appointing Salvatore Stella as the Director of Public Works for the Village 
3. Resolution to Approve and Authorize the Execution of a COVID-19 Support Services Reimbursement Agreement by and between 

the Department of Emergency Management and Regional Security of the County of Cook and the Village for the Reimbursement 
of Eligible COVID-19 Expenses 

4. Motion to Direct the Forest Park Board of Fire and Police Commissioners to Hire Three Full-Time Police Officers  
5. Motion to approve the District 91 Banner Request to hang banners the week of April 19th and 26th on Madison (Circle and Des 

Plaines) to promote Kindness Week 
6. Motion to approve the 2021 Hunger Walkathon West Banner Request to hang banners April 17th thru May 1st on Circle and 

Madison 
7. Motion to Approve two Library requests to use Constitution Court and the Grove for Summer Outdoor Events    

   

ADMINISTRATOR REPORT 
COMMISSIONER REPORTS  
ADJOURNMENT 

Online Village Council March 12, 2021 ZOOM Meeting at 7PM                                                                    

in Response to COVID-19 

*Join Meeting ONLINE or CALL-IN* -Observe live ZOOM meeting               
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84273359744?pwd=T0NFWHMrRnpBcGlDYVdxdkpYNzgvZz09 

 

          or Call-in (+1 312 626 6799, Webinar ID: 842 7335 9744, Password: 427689)  
*Public COMMENT*-Required to be sent in advance via email to Vanessa Moritz,vmoritz@forestpark.net before 6:30PM.  

 

mailto:vmoritz@forestpark.net
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84273359744?pwd=T0NFWHMrRnpBcGlDYVdxdkpYNzgvZz09
mailto:vmoritz@forestpark.net


1  

THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL OF THE 
VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

HELD ON SATURDAY MORNING, MARCH 20, 2021 AT 10:00 A.M. 
 
 
 
 
 

ROLL CALL 
 

Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Nero, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins answered the Roll Call. Mayor 
Hoskins announced t that the purpose of the special meeting is to interview candidates for Village 
Administrator. 

 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

None 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Byrnes and seconded by Commissioner Nero to adjourn into closed 
session to consider the employment, appointment, compensation, discipline or termination of specific 
employees of the public body. The motion carried unanimously. 

 
Mayor Hoskins declared the meeting adjourned at 10:01 a.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 



 

 

THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE COUNCIL OF THE 
VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

HELD ON MONDAY EVENING, MARCH 22, 2021 
 
 

Mayor Hoskins led all assembled in the Pledge of Allegiance at 7:00 p.m. 

 
 

ROLL CALL 
 

Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Nero, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins answered the Roll Call. Mayor 
Hoskins announced that all members are attending remotely via video teleconference and he is 
present in the Village Hall due to Social Distancing regulations resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 
 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Nero and seconded by Commissioner Voogd that the minutes from 
the March 8, 2021, Regular Meeting of the Village Council be approved without reading as each 
member has received a copy thereof. 

 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Nero, Voogd 

and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES:       None 
ABSENT:     None 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Byrnes and seconded by Commissioner Voogd that the minutes from 
the March 8, 2021, Special Meeting of the Village Council be approved without reading as each 
member has received a copy thereof. 

 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Voogd 

and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES:       None 
ABSTAIN: Commissioner Nero 
The motion carried. 

 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Voogd and seconded by Commissioner Nero that the minutes from 
the March 8, 2021, Closed Session Meeting of the Village Council be approved without reading as 
each member has received a copy thereof. 



 

 

ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Voogd 

and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES:       None 
ABSTAIN: Commissioner Nero 
The motion carried. 

 
It was moved by Commissioner Byrnes and seconded by Commissioner Voogd that the minutes from 
the March 9, 2021, Special Meeting of the Village Council be approved without reading as each 
member has received a copy thereof. 

 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Voogd 

and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES:       None 
ABSTAIN: Commissioner Nero 
The motion carried. 

 
It was moved by Commissioner Byrnes and seconded by Commissioner Voogd that the minutes from 
the March 9, 2021, Closed Session Meeting of the Village Council be approved without reading as 
each member has received a copy thereof. 

 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Voogd 

and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES:       None 
ABSTAIN: Commissioner Nero 
The motion carried. 

 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Ms. Julianne Bonwit expressed her gratitude to both the Village Council for recognizing Jill Wagner 
as an outstanding community member and to Jill Wagner for her remarkable contributions to the 
village. 

 
Mr. Scott Dunnell thanked the Village Council for their continued support for the Kindness Week 
event and activities in District 91 and throughout the village for the third year. 

 
 

COMMUNICATIONS: 
 

None 



 

 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS: 
 

The Finance Department and Police Department submitted their monthly reports. 

 
 

APPROVAL OF BILLS: 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Byrnes and seconded by 
Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution for the payment of bills 
be adopted.  The Commissioner of Accounts and Finance 
has reviewed the bills as applicable to each department and 
found the aggregate amounts to be correct and recommends 
payment when funds are available. The bills totaled 
$674,572.22. 

 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Nero, Voogd 

and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

R-22-21 
RESOLUTION FOR 

PAYMENT OF BILLS IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $674,572.22 

APPROVED 

 

None 

 
 

NEW BUSINESS: 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Nero and seconded by 
Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution for Improvement 
under the Illinois Highway Code relevant to the use of MFT 
funds for the Watermain and Resurfacing project on the 7700 
block of Monroe and 400-600 blocks of Thomas be adopted. 

 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Nero, Voogd 

and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Nero and seconded by 
Commissioner Voogd that the Resolution approving the 
specifications and authorizing the advertising of bids for the 

Village of Forest Park 2020 
Watermain Replacement 
and 



 

R-23-21 RESOLUTION FOR 
IMPROVEMENT UNDER THE ILLINOIS HIGHWAY 

CODE APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 

R-24-21 RESOLUTION APPROVING 
SPECS AND BIDS FOR WATERMAIN AND 

RESURFACING APPROVED 



 

Resurfacing Program be adopted. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Nero, Voogd 

and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Novak and seconded by 
Commissioner Nero that the Resolution relating to a 
Retirement Healthcare Funding Plan of the Firefighters and 
Lieutenants of the Village of Forest Park be adopted. 

 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Nero, Voogd 

and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Novak and seconded by 
Commissioner Nero that the Resolution approving the transfer 
of the PEHP-Z to the IPPFA Post-Retirement Healthcare 
Funding Plan of the Firefighters and Lieutenants of the Village 
of Forest Park be adopted. 

 
ROLL CALL: 
AYES: Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Nero, Voogd 

and Mayor Hoskins 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: None 
The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

Mayor Hoskins declared the week of April 26th as “Kindness 
Week” in Forest Park and Clerk Moritz read the Mayor’s 
Proclamation aloud. 

 
 

Mayor Hoskins proclaimed the Village Council and the citizens 
of Forest Park recognize and celebrate Jill Wagner’s many 
accomplishments as a leader of Pack 109 and her dedication 
to Scouting and to the community and village. Clerk Moritz 
read the Mayor’s Proclamation aloud. 

R-25-21 
RESOLUTION RELATED TO 

RETIREMENT 
HEALTHCARE FUNDING 

PLAN FOR FIREFIGHTERS 
AND LIEUTENANTS 

APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 

R-26-21 
RESOLUTION APPROVING 

TRANSFER OF PEHP-Z 
FUNDS TO IPPFA POST- 

RETIREMENT 
HEALTHCARE FUNDING 

PLAN 
APPROVED 

 
 
 
 
 

MAYOR’S PROCLAMATION 
KINDNESS WEEK 

 
 

MAYOR’S PROCLAMATION 
HONORING JILL WAGNER 



 

ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT: 
 

None 
 
COMMISSIONER’S REPORTS: 

 

Commissioner Novak congratulated Jill Wagner on the recognition received this evening and pointed 
out the fact that there will be no Kindness Week labels due to COVID-19. Last, the Commissioner 
expressed his pride that Forest Park is doing its part and making a difference by partnering with the 
State and County in opening the mass vaccination site. Last, Commissioner Novak reminded residents 
that vehicle sticker season is upon us and the sticker must be purchased and displayed by April 1. 

 
Commissioner Byrnes reported that the Park District is holding their traditional annual Easter Egg hunt 
on the soccer field this Saturday at 10:00. The commissioner further congratulated Jill Wagner on a 
tremendous job and noted that he considers Jill a good friend. 

 
Commissioner Nero congratulated Jill and the Wagner family. In addition, the commissioner reminded 
residents that with the good weather, they need to remember to socialize safely and responsibly. Last, 
Commissioner Nero encouraged residents to contact IDOT to encourage them to clean up the 
excessive debris left from the melted snow mounds. 

 
Commissioner Voogd reported that we are planning a community clean up event in the near future. 
Details will be announced soon. Those looking for information can email jvoogd@forestpark.net. The 
commissioner expressed her gratitude to District 91 for continuing with Project Kindness as it reminds 
and teaches us the importance of being kind. Finally, Commissioner Voogd congratulated Jill Wagner 
on the recognition she received tonight. 

 
Mayor Hoskins reported that Police Chief Aftanas held an award ceremony last Monday, presenting 
merit awards to the afternoon shift that responded to the call on January 14th of an armed offender 
barricaded in an apartment building. In addition, Sergeant Defors and Officer Marti each received an 
Award of Valor for their efforts that day. Next Monday, March 29th, there will be a ceremony to present 
recognition to those officers who responded to an armed robbery at Thornton’s. All are welcome to 
attend. Last, Mayor Hoskins reported that a mass vaccination site, run by the Illinois Department of 
Public Health and the Cook County Department of Public Health will be opening this Friday in Forest 
Park. The site is expected to have the capacity to vaccinate up to 5,000 people per day. Forest Park 
firefighters will be on the scene during operations at all times. The village is happy to do its part in 
fighting the COVID-19 pandemic. Hopefully all of the people coming to Forest Park for vaccines will be 
a benefit to the local businesses as well. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

There being no further business to be addressed, Commissioner Nero moved and Commissioner 
Byrnes seconded to adjourn the meeting. The motion carried unanimously. 

 
Mayor Hoskins declared the meeting adjourned at 7:30 P.M. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 

Vanessa Moritz 
Village Clerk 

mailto:jvoogd@forestpark.net


1  

THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL OF THE 
VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

HELD ON SATURDAY MORNING, MARCH 27, 2021 AT 10:00 A.M. 
 
 
 
 
 

ROLL CALL 
 

Commissioners Novak, Byrnes, Nero, Voogd and Mayor Hoskins answered the Roll Call. 
Commissioner Nero was attending remotely via telephone. Mayor Hoskins announced that the purpose 
of the special meeting is to interview candidates for Village Administrator. 

 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

None 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

It was moved by Commissioner Byrnes and seconded by Commissioner Voogd to adjourn into closed 
session to consider the employment, appointment, compensation, discipline or termination of specific 
employees of the public body. The motion carried unanimously. 

 
Mayor Hoskins declared the meeting adjourned at 10:03 a.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 



 

R E S O L U T I O N No. 

 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois,  

that we dispense with the reading of the individual bills inasmuch as each department head has approved 

and signed bills in the following aggregate amount for their respective departments. 

Refunds and Allocations $ 100.20 

Public Affairs $ 52,193.67 

Police Department $ 1,158.48 

Community Center $ 343.00 

Accounts & Finance (Clerks Office) $ 160,073.55 

Accounts & Finance (Fire Department) $ 37,984.48 

Department of Health & Safety $ 9,558.12 

Street Department $ 48,877.30 

Public Property $ 73,791.12 

Seizure $ 1,744.64 

Federal Customs $ 1,298.00 

TIF $ 3,799.26 

VIP $ 25,336.85 

Water Department $ 18,125.24 

TOTAL $ 434,383.91 

 
 

ADOPTED BY THE Council of the Village of Forest Park this 12th Day of April, 2021.  

Ayes: 
 

Nays:  

Absent:  

 

Rory Hoskins, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk  



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-00-000-4450-130 Robert Sclafani 03/29/2021 4.20 

100-00-000-4480-100 Matt Donovan 03/22/2021 96.00 

 
Refunds and Allocations 

 
100.20 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-10-101-6100-135 GPG Strategies LLC 03/16/2021 2,000.00 

100-10-101-6120-160 Verizon Wireless 03/22/2021 249.03 

100-10-101-6120-300 McGaffers Saloon 03/20/2021 83.80 

100-10-101-6150-152 Verizon Wireless 03/22/2021 344.68 

100-10-101-6150-152 Verizon Wireless 03/22/2021 84.92 

100-10-101-6150-220 Shavon Wesley 03/24/2021 412.50 

100-10-101-6150-300 West Suburban Cons Dispatch Center 03/02/2021 42,667.00 

100-10-101-7000-150 Telcom Innovations Group LLC 03/22/2021 1,984.30 

100-10-101-7000-150 Telcom Innovations Group LLC 04/01/2021 1,907.44 

100-11-111-6110-105 Techno Consulting Inc 03/12/2021 540.00 

100-11-111-6110-110 Techno Consulting Inc 03/12/2021 1,920.00 

 
Public Affairs 

 
52,193.67 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-12-121-6150-114 WEDGE 02/17/2021 750.00 

100-12-123-6145-202 McDonalds 03/11/2021 22.23 

100-12-124-6150-114 Thomson Reuters-West 03/01/2021 386.25 

 
Police Department 

 
1,158.48 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-15-169-6160-100 Elmhurst Occupational Health 02/28/2021 145.00 

100-15-169-6160-100 Elmhurst Occupational Health 02/28/2021 53.00 

100-15-169-6160-100 Elmhurst Occupational Health 02/28/2021 145.00 

 
Community Center 

 
343.00 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-21-211-5005-002 Blue Cross-Blue Shield of Ill 03/17/2021 130,281.12 

100-21-211-5005-002 Fidelity Security Life Ins Co. 03/22/2021 99.50 

100-21-211-5005-002 Fidelity Security Life Ins Co. 03/22/2021 585.06 

100-21-211-5005-002 Guardian - Appleton 03/22/2021 7,985.44 

100-21-211-5005-002 Joan Hein 03/29/2021 72.78 

100-21-211-6110-110 Xerox Financial Services 03/10/2021 107.15 

100-21-211-6120-300 HRdirect 04/03/2021 79.99 

100-21-211-6120-300 West Central Municipal Conf 03/22/2021 2,636.82 

100-21-211-6120-305 Growing Community Media NFP 03/17/2021 130.00 

100-21-211-6120-305 Growing Community Media NFP 03/24/2021 130.00 

100-21-211-6120-305 Growing Community Media NFP 03/31/2021 130.00 

100-21-211-6130-250 Celeste Arnold 03/25/2021 25.81 

100-21-211-6130-250 Jane Drake 03/31/2021 96.33 

100-21-211-6130-250 Dennis Elliott 03/26/2021 98.81 

100-21-211-6130-250 Francisco Gomez 03/29/2021 59.27 

100-21-211-6130-250 Michael Hidalgo 04/01/2021 50.99 

100-21-211-6130-250 Eugene Lieberman 03/29/2021 99.55 

100-21-211-6130-250 Elaine Faith Rose 03/25/2021 92.69 

100-21-211-6130-250 Stephanie M Schiller 03/22/2021 30.99 

100-21-211-6130-250 Dorothy Virgilio 03/25/2021 51.49 

100-21-211-6140-104 Office 8 03/04/2021 209.94 

100-21-211-6140-104 Quill 03/04/2021 167.25 

100-21-211-6140-104 Quill 03/10/2021 28.31 

100-21-211-6140-110 Forest Printing 03/22/2021 757.81 

100-21-211-6140-140 Quill 03/04/2021 106.68 

100-21-211-6140-140 Quill 03/10/2021 33.37 

100-21-211-6150-150 AT&T 03/19/2021 874.20 

100-21-211-6150-150 AT&T 03/19/2021 468.08 

100-21-211-6150-150 AT&T 03/25/2021 109.79 

100-21-211-6150-150 AT&T 03/25/2021 54.89 

100-21-211-6150-150 AT&T 03/25/2021 55.37 

100-21-211-7000-080 Xerox Financial Services 03/10/2021 1,684.21 

100-21-211-6110-110 Xerox Financial Services 03/10/2021 253.85 

100-21-211-7000-080 Xerox Financial Services 03/10/2021 119.42 

100-22-221-6320-310 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 12,306.59 

 
Accounts & Finance (Clerks Office) 160,073.55 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-30-301-6120-305 Timothy Conrad 03/30/2021 27.45 

100-30-301-6120-305 Timothy Conrad 03/30/2021 51.53 

100-30-301-6120-305 Timothy Conrad 03/30/2021 25.00 

100-30-301-6120-305 Timothy Conrad 03/30/2021 54.99 

100-30-301-6120-305 Phil Chiappetta 03/15/2021 48.92 

100-30-301-7000-040 L-K Fire Extinguisher Service-No. 2 03/15/2021 302.00 

100-30-301-7000-040 Brian Valtman 03/17/2021 43.99 

100-30-302-6110-150 Verizon Wireless 03/22/2021 155.28 

100-30-302-6110-200 Air One Equipment Inc 03/22/2021 150.00 

100-30-302-6145-100 Witmer Public Safety Group 03/22/2021 96.94 

100-30-302-6145-105 Lou Davini 03/18/2021 100.00 

100-30-302-6155-110 SCHAUERS HARDWARE 02/28/2021 39.55 

100-30-303-6100-160 Metro Paramedic Services Inc 03/17/2021 36,638.83 

100-30-303-6145-300 BioTron Inc. 03/16/2021 250.00 

 
Accounts & Finance (Fire Department) 37,984.48 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-40-401-5000-017 Rick Dandan 03/31/2021 360.00 

100-40-401-5000-017 Raymond Traynor 03/29/2021 1,035.00 

100-40-402-6100-115 Muse Community + Design 02/28/2021 3,375.00 

100-40-402-6141-003 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 208.00 

100-40-402-6141-003 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 260.00 

100-40-402-6141-003 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 540.00 

100-40-402-6141-003 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 494.00 

100-40-402-6141-003 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 2,166.12 

100-40-402-6141-003 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 564.00 

100-40-402-6141-003 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 52.00 

100-40-402-6150-232 B&F Construction Code Service 03/29/2021 200.00 

100-40-403-6150-230 Elevator Inspection Services 03/05/2021 32.00 

100-40-403-6150-230 Elevator Inspection Services 03/05/2021 80.00 

100-40-403-6150-230 Elevator Inspection Services 03/16/2021 192.00 

 
Department of Health & Safety 

 
9,558.12 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-50-501-7000-035 CURRIE MOTORS 03/24/2021 33,878.00 

100-50-502-6180-160 Com Ed 03/23/2021 3,893.00 

100-50-502-6185-106 Cargill Salt Road Safety 02/26/2021 8,164.89 

100-50-502-6185-106 Cargill Salt Road Safety 03/01/2021 989.11 

100-50-502-6185-106 First Ayd Corp. 01/25/2021 762.30 

100-50-502-6185-110 Traffic Control & Protection 03/18/2021 340.80 

100-50-502-6185-252 Kuusakoski US LLC 03/22/2021 849.20 

 
Street Department 

 
48,877.30 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-55-552-6145-100 Steve Knysch 03/07/2021 100.00 

100-55-552-6145-100 Michael Marasco 03/12/2021 162.41 

100-55-552-6180-101 SCHAUERS HARDWARE 02/28/2021 77.81 

100-55-552-6180-101 First Ayd Corp. 11/16/2020 477.50 

100-55-553-6180-150 Lyons Pinner Electric Co 12/27/2020 6,444.80 

100-55-553-6180-150 Lyons Pinner Electric Co 12/27/2020 5,697.00 

100-55-553-6180-150 Lyons Pinner Electric Co 12/27/2020 165.00 

100-55-553-6180-150 Lyons Pinner Electric Co 12/27/2020 675.00 

100-55-553-6180-150 Lyons Pinner Electric Co 03/23/2021 389.66 

100-55-553-6180-150 Lyons Pinner Electric Co 03/23/2021 330.00 

100-55-553-6180-150 Lyons Pinner Electric Co 03/23/2021 560.00 

100-55-553-6180-160 AEP Energy 02/23/2021 3,847.09 

100-55-553-6180-160 Com Ed 02/25/2021 357.34 

100-55-553-6180-160 Com Ed 02/26/2021 255.00 

100-55-553-6180-160 Com Ed 03/16/2021 481.42 

100-55-553-6180-160 Com Ed 03/30/2021 31.55 

100-55-553-6180-160 Com Ed 03/30/2021 26.75 

100-55-553-6180-160 Com Ed 03/30/2021 33.02 

100-55-553-6180-160 Com Ed 03/30/2021 40.18 

100-55-553-6180-160 Com Ed 03/30/2021 177.83 

100-55-553-6180-160 Com Ed 03/31/2021 31.60 

100-55-553-6180-160 Com Ed 03/31/2021 39.85 

100-55-555-6180-100 Comcast 03/08/2021 210.45 

100-55-555-6180-100 Brill Hygienic Products 03/23/2021 153.53 

100-55-555-6180-100 Quill 03/04/2021 99.95 

100-55-555-6180-100 Quill 03/10/2021 427.56 

100-55-555-6180-100 Quill 03/11/2021 18.00 

100-55-555-6180-110 Comcast 03/12/2021 2.10 

100-55-555-6180-110 Comcast 03/13/2021 128.95 

100-55-555-6180-110 West Town Mechanical 03/26/2021 465.00 

100-55-555-6180-140 Comcast 03/07/2021 2.10 

100-55-555-6180-140 McMaster-Carr 03/03/2021 335.42 

100-55-555-6180-140 McMaster-Carr 03/09/2021 248.04 

100-55-555-6180-140 McMaster-Carr 03/11/2021 318.46 

100-55-555-6180-140 West Town Mechanical 03/01/2021 1,224.14 

100-55-570-6155-101 Mohr Oil Company 03/02/2021 1,428.05 

100-55-570-6155-101 Mohr Oil Company 03/02/2021 8,072.70 

100-55-570-6155-106 Altorfer Industries 03/05/2021 386.88 

100-55-570-6155-106 Atlas Bobcat LLC 03/04/2021 722.64 

100-55-570-6155-106 Battery Service Corporation 03/17/2021 695.70 

100-55-570-6155-106 CCP INDUSTRIES INC. 01/25/2021 109.53 

100-55-570-6155-106 CCP INDUSTRIES INC. 03/23/2021 110.22 

100-55-570-6155-106 Currie Motors Chevrolet 12/01/2020 124.96 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-55-570-6155-106 Currie Motors Chevrolet 01/06/2021 240.26 

100-55-570-6155-106 Currie Motors Chevrolet 02/02/2021 69.70 

100-55-570-6155-106 Currie Motors Chevrolet 02/02/2021 251.15 

100-55-570-6155-106 Currie Motors Chevrolet 02/03/2021 5.13 

100-55-570-6155-106 Currie Motors Chevrolet 02/10/2021 45.74 

100-55-570-6155-106 Currie Motors Chevrolet 02/19/2021 247.09 

100-55-570-6155-106 Fleet Safety Supply 03/11/2021 369.29 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 01/13/2021 194.94 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 01/15/2021 9.20 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 01/19/2021 229.15 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 01/22/2021 158.44 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 01/28/2021 132.97 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 01/28/2021 32.66 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 01/28/2021 107.80 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/03/2021 299.79 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/04/2021 212.98 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/05/2021 156.71 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/08/2021 32.52 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/08/2021 282.88 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/11/2021 153.56 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/11/2021 68.40 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/11/2021 86.22 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/12/2021 147.54 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/12/2021 295.08 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/15/2021 102.80 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/15/2021 62.82 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/15/2021 62.82 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/03/2021 301.42 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/05/2021 138.60 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/05/2021 -34.00 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/09/2021 79.15 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/11/2021 54.67 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/12/2021 5.05 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/12/2021 12.35 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/15/2021 86.22 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/18/2021 -55.65 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/22/2021 391.80 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/22/2021 -95.44 

100-55-570-6155-106 Factory Motor Parts Co 03/23/2021 8.92 

100-55-570-6155-106 Freeway Ford Sterling Truck 10/15/2021 27.00 

100-55-570-6155-106 Hawk Chrysler Dodge 01/14/2021 60.16 

100-55-570-6155-106 Hawk Chrysler Dodge 01/27/2021 46.88 

100-55-570-6155-106 Hawk Chrysler Dodge 02/16/2021 43.48 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

100-55-570-6155-106 Hawk Chrysler Dodge 03/08/2021 44.00 

100-55-570-6155-106 Kimball Midwest 03/09/2021 265.71 

100-55-570-6155-106 Kimball Midwest 03/18/2021 50.76 

100-55-570-6155-106 L.A.FASTENERS INC. 03/08/2021 125.23 

100-55-570-6155-106 L.A.FASTENERS INC. 03/11/2021 242.08 

100-55-570-6155-106 McCann Industries Inc. 03/05/2021 2,593.97 

100-55-570-6155-106 Pulltarps Mfg 11/20/2020 2,743.51 

100-55-570-6155-106 Wholesale Direct Inc. 03/02/2021 53.12 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/04/2021 18.00 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/09/2021 258.22 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/10/2021 326.84 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/10/2021 613.60 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/11/2021 251.80 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/11/2021 533.76 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/12/2021 240.40 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/15/2021 10.52 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/18/2021 238.22 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/18/2021 30.84 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 02/19/2021 122.23 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 03/04/2021 -30.00 

100-55-570-6155-106 Zeigler Ford North Riverside 03/04/2021 -140.00 

100-55-570-6155-110 Jack's Rental Inc. 03/11/2021 79.95 

100-55-570-6155-110 Snap on Industrial 03/11/2021 204.00 

100-55-570-6155-112 Atlas Bobcat LLC 03/02/2021 3,253.79 

100-55-570-6155-112 Atlas Bobcat LLC 03/04/2021 1,465.04 

100-55-570-6155-112 BC Body Craft Inc 02/26/2021 965.00 

100-55-570-6155-112 BC Body Craft Inc 03/03/2021 1,818.40 

100-55-570-6155-112 Illinois Communications Sales Inc. 03/18/2021 4,095.00 

100-55-570-6155-112 NOBS TOWING 03/17/2021 305.00 

100-55-570-6155-112 Standard Equipment Co. 03/18/2021 9,648.16 

100-55-580-6155-120 Bernie's Saw & Supply Inc 03/23/2021 116.40 

100-55-580-6155-120 Bernie's Saw & Supply Inc 03/26/2021 18.00 

100-55-580-6155-120 Jack's Rental Inc. 03/03/2021 262.89 

100-55-580-6180-302 Davis Tree Care 01/29/2021 2,100.00 

100-55-585-6180-160 Com Ed 03/31/2021 53.24 

 
Public Property 

 
73,791.12 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

230-00-000-6150-152 Verizon Wireless 03/22/2021 212.20 

230-00-000-6150-152 Verizon Wireless 03/22/2021 134.70 

230-00-000-6900-230 Triston Bell 03/12/2021 1,055.00 

230-00-000-6900-230 Factory Motor Parts Co 01/29/2021 77.70 

230-00-000-6900-230 Factory Motor Parts Co 02/02/2021 73.88 

230-00-000-6900-230 Hawk Chrysler Dodge 01/15/2021 40.16 

230-00-000-6900-230 Secretary of State 03/09/2021 151.00 

 
Seizure 

 
1,744.64 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

232-00-000-6900-232 Davis Stanton Promotions 03/09/2021 48.00 

232-00-000-6900-232 Saber-Toothed Computing 02/18/2021 1,250.00 

 
Federal Customs 

 
1,298.00 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

302-00-000-6185-700 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 1,899.63 

304-00-000-6185-700 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 1,899.63 

 
TIF 

 
3,799.26 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

312-00-000-6100-105 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 1,172.00 

312-00-000-6150-152 Verizon Wireless 03/22/2021 38.01 

312-00-000-7000-108 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 1,595.00 

312-00-000-7000-120 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 8,209.84 

312-00-000-7000-120 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 828.00 

312-00-000-7000-312 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 2,964.00 

312-00-000-7000-312 K-Five 02/24/2021 145.00 

312-00-000-7000-312 K-Five 02/24/2021 145.00 

312-00-000-7000-312 K-Five 02/25/2021 145.00 

312-00-000-7000-312 K-Five 03/03/2021 145.00 

312-00-000-7000-312 K-Five 03/09/2021 145.00 

312-00-000-7000-312 K-Five 03/18/2021 145.00 

312-00-000-7000-312 State of Illinois Treasurer 04/01/2021 9,660.00 

 
VIP 

 
25,336.85 



 

 
 

Account Number Vendor Invoice Date Amount 

501-80-800-6100-105 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 510.00 

501-80-800-6110-105 Verizon Wireless 03/22/2021 36.01 

501-80-800-6120-500 Daniel Lynch 03/30/2021 1,500.00 

501-80-800-6150-150 AT&T 03/25/2021 58.87 

501-80-800-6150-154 Com Ed 03/02/2021 41.78 

501-80-800-6150-154 Com Ed 03/15/2021 76.26 

501-80-800-6150-154 Constellation Energy Services Inc 03/01/2021 3,796.31 

501-80-800-6150-154 Constellation Energy Services Inc 03/02/2021 493.85 

501-80-800-6150-156 NICOR 03/05/2021 615.05 

501-80-800-6150-156 NICOR 03/05/2021 230.57 

501-80-800-6800-150 National Power Rodding Corp 03/05/2021 1,800.00 

501-80-800-6800-151 Core & Main LP 03/03/2021 205.39 

501-80-800-6800-153 Comcast 03/06/2021 82.40 

501-80-800-6800-153 USA BLUE BOOK 03/08/2021 506.81 

501-80-800-7000-020 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 1,053.94 

501-80-800-7000-040 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 1,248.00 

501-80-800-7000-050 Christopher Burke Engineering LTD 03/30/2021 5,870.00 

 
Water Department 

 
18,125.24 



980227_1 

1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. O-_  -21 

 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN 

AMENDMENT TO A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

AND GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR AN AMENDMENT 

TO A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR FARMINGTON FOODS, 

IN THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

(PC 2021-01:  7419, 7431, 7445 Franklin) 

 

WHEREAS, on December 14, 2015, the Village of Forest Park ("Village") enacted 

Ordinance No. O-35-15, entitled "AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE 

PERMIT FOR A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT, AND APPROVING A PRELIMINARY 

AND  FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION  FOR  FARMINGTON  FOODS IN THE VILLAGE   OF 

FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS" ("Original PUD Ordinance") for a planned unit 

development (“Planned Unit Development”) on the property legally described in Exhibit A, 

attached hereto, and commonly described as “Farmington Foods,” located at 7419, 7431, 7445 

Franklin Street, Forest Park, Illinois ("Subject Property"); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Original PUD Ordinance, the Village and Franklin 

Investors, LLC entered into a Planned Unit Development Agreement, dated December 14, 

2015 (“PUD Agreement”) for the Subject Property; and 

WHEREAS, Franklin Consolidated, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company 

(“Company”), as successor and current owner of the Subject Property, has applied for an 

amendment to the current Planned Unit Development approved by the Original PUD 

Ordinance to construct an approximately 8,666 square foot addition (approximately 4,333 

square feet over two floors), with a 753 square foot rooftop deck area that will connect two 

existing buildings on the southeastern part of the Subject Property (the “PUD  Amendment”); 

and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9-6-8 of the Village Zoning Ordinance, the proposed 

PUD Amendment constitutes a major change to the approved Planned Unit Development, due 

to an overall coverage of the site that exceeds 5%; and 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property is located in an I-1 Zoning District within the 

Village and is granted a conditional use for a Planned Unit Development pursuant to the 

Original PUD Ordinance; and 



980227_1 

2 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to proper legal notice, a public hearing on the Company’s 

application for the PUD Amendment was conducted by the Plan Commission on February  1, 

2021; and 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2021, the Plan Commission considered the testimony and 

public comment, reviewed the evidence presented, and issued its recommendation to approve 

the PUD Amendment; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Village that the application for the PUD 

Amendment be approved and that an amendment to the PUD Agreement by and between  the 

Village of Forest Park and the Company (“First Amendment to PUD Agreement”) be 

approved by the corporate authorities of the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Company is ready, willing and able to enter into said First 

Amendment to PUD Agreement and perform the obligations as required therein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the Village of Forest 

Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1.    The recitals set forth in the preamble are hereby incorporated herein     by 

reference and made a part of this Ordinance. 

Section 2. Findings:  The Corporate Authorities find as follows: 

1. The proposed improvements comply with the regulations of the underlying zoning district. 

The proposed addition complies with the regulations governing the Subject Property, 

including specifically the regulations of the underlying I-1 zoning district as modified by 

the Original PUD Ordinance approved in 2015. The proposed addition requires no 

variations or zoning relief other than approval of the changes to the approved plans to 

incorporate the proposed addition. The proposed addition does not require any exceptions 

under the Village Zoning Regulations. The use of the proposed addition will be consistent 

with the uses on the Subject Property approved by the Village pursuant to the Original 

PUD Ordinance. The proposed addition will not involve or expand in any way the 

limitation on cooking of animal products as set forth in the Original PUD Ordinance. 

 

2. The proposed planned development is consistent with the comprehensive plan’s future 

land use map. The proposed addition is consistent with the official planning policies and 

the comprehensive plan of the Village. Section 2 of the Original PUD Ordinance 

specifically found that the Planned Unit Development granted in 2015 was consistent with 

the Village’s comprehensive plan and nothing about the proposed addition changes the 

nature or scope of the Planned Unit Development. 

 

3. The planned development is compatible with and will not diminish the economic value of  

the  surrounding  area.   The  surrounding  area  includes  commercial,  industrial,  and 



980227_1 

3 
 

residential areas. The proposed addition adds no new uses to the Subject Property and does 

not change any existing uses on the Subject Property, which uses on the Subject Property, 

as determined by the Village in 2015 in the Original PUD Ordinance. 

 

4. Based on the scope of the proposed addition, there are no unusual  physical, topographical 

or historical features of the site of the planned development to be preserved. The proposed 

addition will not interfere with or impact the Village’s continued use of the Village water 

tower located at the north end of the Subject Property. The proposed addition will not 

impact any unusual physical, topographical or historical features related to the Subject  

Property. 

 

5. The site is under unified control and has been in operation for several decades. Franklin 

Consolidated, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company, owns the Subject Property. 

 

6. The proposed uses are consistent with current operations and will not exercise undue 

detrimental influence upon surrounding properties. The proposed addition adds no new 

uses to the Subject Property. The Original PUD Ordinance determined that the approved 

Planned Unit Development would have no detrimental influence on surrounding 

properties. The proposed addition is consistent with the 2015 approved Planned Unit 

Development and the proposed addition will not be detrimental to the surrounding 

properties and will in many respects be beneficial to surrounding properties by, among 

other things, the inclusion of agreed-upon additional conditions related to the Subject 

Property and also the removal of three dock doors at the southeast corner of the property 

on Franklin Street. 

 

7. The planned development will not endanger public health, welfare, or safety. The 

proposed addition will alter nothing on the Subject Property that would cause any change 

to the Village Council’s previous findings that the existing uses on the Subject Property 

are compatible with surrounding uses, will minimize impacts on surrounding properties, 

and will not endanger public health, welfare, or safety. The proposed addition complies 

with the applicable off-street parking requirements and will not cause any new employees 

to be hired, so the off-street parking requirements remain complied with and unchanged 

from the Original PUD Ordinance. The proposed addition will have only negligible 

impacts on area road operations, will not result in more employees (and thus more cars) 

and will not create any increase in truck trips. 

 

Section 3. The First Amendment to PUD Agreement between the Village and the 

Company, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and made a part hereof, is hereby 

approved. Upon receipt from the Company within seven (7) days of the date of this Ordinance of 

four (4) executed copies of said First Amendment to PUD Agreement, and any money or securities 

required to be deposited therewith, the Mayor and the Village Clerk are hereby authorized and 

directed to execute and attest to, respectively, said Amendment to PUD Agreement. 

Section 4. Upon execution of the First Amendment to PUD Agreement by the Mayor and  

Village  Clerk,  the  Subject  Property  is  hereby  granted  a  conditional  use  for  the  PUD 



980227_1 

4 
 

Amendment to be developed in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the First 

Amendment to PUD Agreement. 

Section 5. The approval of the conditional use for the PUD  Amendment for the  Subject 

Property is subject to the terms and provisions of the Original PUD Ordinance and PUD 

Agreement, and all other conditions and requirements imposed and set forth in the Village Code 

and Zoning Code, as amended, and all other duly enacted ordinances of the Village, except as 

otherwise provided herein or as modified in the First Amendment to PUD Agreement, and shall 

be constructed, developed and operated in strict compliance with the testimony presented on 

behalf of and by the Company and the following plans (“Project Plans”): 

 
a. Application for Zoning Action 

b. Project Narrative (“Planned Development Proposed Addition,” 6 pages, revised 

December 24,2020) 

c. Map of Existing Zoning Districts (undated) 

d. Plat of Subdivision (3 pages, dated November 13, 2015) 

e. Alta/ACSM Land Title Survey (2 pages, dated November 14, 2016) 

f. Traffic Planning Study (22 pages, dated January 5, 2021, by Gewalt 

Hamilton Associates) 

g. Proposed Elevations (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 

h. First Floor Plan (dated December 11, 2020) 

i. Second Floor Plan (dated December 11, 2020) 

j. Proposed Site Plan (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 

k. Existing Conditions Site Plan (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 

l. Roof Deck Graphic Section View SK4.0 (dated February 11, 2021, 

by Ridgeland Associates) 

m. Truck Operations Plan (undated, by Gewalt Hamilton Associates) 

n. Fence Plan (dated March 26, 2021, by Ridgeland Associates) 

 

Section 6. The First Amendment to PUD Agreement between the Village and the 

Company accurately sets forth all of the agreements between the parties pertaining to the 

development of the Subject Property. 

Section 7.   The proposed improvements as approved by the PUD Amendment shall    be 

constructed, developed and operated in strict accordance with the terms and conditions of the 

Original PUD Ordinance and PUD Agreement, as amended herein, and subject to the following 

conditions and restrictions: 

1. Except for deliveries, the on-site truck relocation will be prohibited between buildings 

on the Subject Property from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. 

2. The applicant shall install new directional off-site and on-site signage for truck 

movements as provided in the Truck Operations Plan and subject to final review and 

approval by the Village Engineer and the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

3. Trucks are required to continue to enter and exit from the west except when using 

loading docks at the southeast corner of the Subject Property. 



980227_1 

5 
 

4. Other than trucks of standard delivery services such as UPS, Federal Express, and 

Amazon, trucks delivering materials to the Company will not be permitted to park nor 

idle between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. on either side of the Franklin Street and Circle 

Avenue frontages of the Subject Property. 

5. No truck refrigerator units are to be used at the loading docks of the Subject Property 

between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. 

6. No cooking is to take place within the 7419 building, including the proposed addition 

and in no event shall food processing operations be expanded into the connected garage 

structure, without an amendment to the Original PUD Ordinance and PUD Agreement, 

as amended. 

7. The hours and operation/occupancy for the roof deck shall be limited to 6:00 a.m. to 

11:00 p.m. 

8. The roof deck is limited to 753 square feet in size and shall be in substantial conformance 

with the Project Plans. 

9. Roof deck lighting shall be “down lighting” subject to final review and approval by the 

Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

10. The final material of the 6’ screen of the roof deck will be as depicted in the Roof Deck 

Graphic Section View SK 4.0, subject to review and approval by the Director of 

Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

11. Landscaping per the original PUD that has died or is depleted will be replaced before the 

issuance of a final Certificate of Occupancy, subject to seasonal planting restrictions 

and approval of the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

12. The applicant will remove the current chain link fence/barbed wire fence and replace it 

with a combination of wrought-iron like open fence and wrought-iron like with infilled 

synthetic slats, as depicted in the Proposed Fence Plan, along the southern perimeter of 

the Subject Property. The fence materials will provide visual and noise screening for the 

portions of the property that are beyond fifteen (15) feet from the west and center 

entrances to the Subject Property. No trucks shall be permitted to park on the Subject 

Property adjacent to the open areas of the fence along Franklin. The Company shall 

install traffic control warning signs at the entrances, to control both truck ingress and 

egress and warning pedestrians. The final fence to be constructed is subject to final 

review and approval by the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning for compliance 

with the Proposed Fence Plan. 

13. The applicant will identify a “Community Contact Representative” who will be primarily 

responsible for monitoring and promptly responding to messages received. The name, 

phone number, and email of a specific person shall be provided to the Director of 

Building, Planning & Zoning and listed on the company website. Additionally, a 24-hour 

phone number shall be prominently listed on the company’s website. 

14. A construction schedule shall be submitted prior to the issuance of a building permit. 

15. All construction shall comply with the Building Code of the Village of Forest Park, with 

final plans subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer and  the Director of 

Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

16. Final engineering shall be approved by the Village’s consulting engineer prior to 

issuance of building permits for the exterior work. 

17. No building permits and no Certificate of Occupancy for the Subject Property shall be 

issued by the Department of Public Health and Safety to the Owner unless all debts owed 

to the Village of Forest Park by the Owner have been paid in full prior to the issuance of 

such permits or certificates. 



980227_1 

6 
 

18. Any violation of the above conditions will result in a violation of the Municipal code of 

the Village of Forest Park and the owner may be subject to fines for each day said 

violation exists. 

 
Section 8. In  all  other  respects,  the  terms  and  provisions  of  the Original PUD 

Ordinance and PUD Agreement are ratified and remain in full force and effect. 

Section 9. This  Ordinance  shall  be  in  full  force  and  effect  upon  is passage and 

approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 12th  day of 
 

April, 2021. 

 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:    

 

APPROVED: 
 

 

 

 
 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

 
 

Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 



980227_1 

7 
 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

PARCEL 1: 

 

LOT 1 IN THE FINAL PLAT OF FRANKLIN SUBDIVISION, BEING A PART OF THE 

NORTH 1/2 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH,    RANGE 

12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF 

RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NUMBER 1602544024, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 

PARCEL 2: 

 

NON-EXCLUSIVE DRIVEWAY EASEMENT FOR THE BENEFIT OF PARCEL 1, AS 

CREATED BY DEED FROM CHICAGO AND NORTHWESTERN RAILWAY COMPANY 

TO E. W. KNEIP, INCORPORATED RECORDED DECEMBER 9, 1966 AS DOCUMENT 

20018802, OVER THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED REAL ESTATE: 

 

THAT PART OF THE NORTH 1/2 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 

39 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, BOUNDED AND 

DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF CIRCLE    AVENUE, 

183.00 FEET WEST OF, AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE CENTERLINE 

OF HARLEM AVENUE; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY 

LINE OF SAID CIRCLE AVENUE, A DISTANCE OF 490.70 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING OF SAID EASEMENT, SAID POINT OF BEGINNING ALSO BEING THE 

MOST SOUTHERLY CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND, AS CONVEYED BY QUIT  CLAIM 

DEED DATED JULY 5, 1963 FROM THE CHICAGO AND NORTHWESTERN RAILWAY 

COMPANY TO MAX GOLDSTEIN, EVA GOLDSTEIN AND BESSIE GOLDSTEIN, AND 

RECORDED AUGUST 23, 1963 AS DOCUMENT 18893094; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY 

ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 109 DEGREES, 58 MINUTES MEASURED 

COUNTER CLOCKWISE FROM A STRAIGHT LINE DRAWN FROM THE POINT OF 

COMMENCEMENT TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, A DISTANCE OF 90.5 FEET, MORE 

OR LESS, TO A POINT 72.00 FEET SOUTH OF, AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES 

FROM THE SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF 

HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST; THENCE WEST ALONG A LINE PARALLEL 

WITH THE SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF 

HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST, TO A POINT 1140.00 FEET WEST OF THE 

CENTERLINE OF SAID HARLEM AVENUE, AS MEASURED ALONG A LINE PARALLEL 

WITH THE NORTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF 

HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED  WEST; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT 

LINE, A DISTANCE OF 97.7 FEET TO A POINT 84.00 FEET SOUTH OF, AS MEASURED 

AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE SOUTH BOUNDARY  LINE  OF  SAID  RAILWAY  

COMPANY,  EAST  OF  HARLEM    AVENUE, 



980227_1 

8 
 

EXTENDED WEST; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE, A DISTANCE OF 

76.1 FEET TO A POINT 102.00 FEET SOUTH OF, AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES 

FROM THE SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF 

HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST; THENCE SOUTH ALONG A LINE DRAWN AT 

RIGHT ANGLES TO THE NORTH LINE OF FRANKLIN STREET TO A POINT 43.00 FEET 

NORTH OF, AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE NORTH LINE OF THE 

PROPERTY AND EXTENSION THEREOF, AS CONVEYED FROM SAID RAILWAY 

COMPANY TO THE CITIES SERVICE OIL COMPANY BY QUIT CLAIM DEED DATED 

FEBRUARY 25, 1963 AND RECORDED MARCH 8, 1963, AS DOCUMENT 18737524; 

THENCE WEST ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE NORTH LINE OF THE 

PROPERTY CONVEYED BY SAID DEED DATED FEBRUARY 25, 1963 TO A LINE 

DRAWN AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY 

COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST AND  DISTANT 1707.00 

FEET WEST OF, AS MEASURED ALONG SAID SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE FROM THE 

CENTERLINE OF SAID HARLEM AVENUE; THENCE SOUTH ALONG A LINE DRAWN 

AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY 

COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST TO THE NORTH LINE OF 

THE PROPERTY CONVEYED BY SAID DEED DATED FEBRUARY 25, 1963, EXTENDED 

WESTERLY; THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE PROPERTY 

CONVEYED BY SAID DEED DATED FEBRUARY 25, 1963 AND THE WESTERLY 

EXTENSION THEREOF (BEING ALSO THE NORTH LINE OF PARCEL 5 AND THE 

EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF) TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE PROPERTY 

CONVEYED BY SAID DEED DATED FEBRUARY 25, 1963; THENCE NORTH ALONG A 

LINE DRAWN AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE NORTH LINE OF SAID FRANKLIN 

STREET TO A POINT 8.5 FEET SOUTH OF, AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM 

THE CENTERLINE OF SPUR TRACK I.C.C. NO. 367 OF SAID  RAILWAY COMPANY, AS 

NOW LOCATED AND ESTABLISHED; THENCE EAST ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH 

THE CENTERLINE OF SAID SPUR TRACK, A DISTANCE OF 162.00 FEET; THENCE 

NORTH ALONG A LINE DRAWN AT RIGHT ANGLES TO THE SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE 

OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST, TO A 

POINT 102.00 FEET SOUTH OF, AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE SOUTH 

BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, 

EXTENDED WEST; THENCE EAST ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH 

BOUNDARY LINE, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST, A DISTANCE OF 

230.00 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT 50.00 FEET SOUTHWESTERLY OF, AS 

MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF THE TRACT 

OF LAND, AS CONVEYED IN SAID DEED DATED FEBRUARY 25, 1963; THENCE 

SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF 

SAID TRACT OF LAND, A DISTANCE OF 81.00 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE 

NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID CIRCLE AVENUE; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY 

ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID CIRCLE AVENUE, A DISTANCE OF 

50.00 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN COOK COUNTY, 

ILLINOIS. 



980227_1 

9 
 

EXHIBIT B 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO PUD AGREEMENT 



 

THIS DOCUMENT 
PREPARED BY AND AFTER 
RECORDING RETURN TO: 

 
Nicholas S. Peppers 
Storino, Ramello & Durkin 

9501 West Devon Ave. 8th Fl. 
Rosemont, IL 60018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Above Space For Recorder’s Use Only 

 
 
 
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK 

AND 

FRANKLIN CONSOLIDATED, LLC 

 

 
DATED AS OF  , 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SRD980629.4 #72138508_v1 



 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN 

THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK 
AND 

FRANKLIN CONSOLIDATED, LLC 
 

THIS IS A FIRST AMENDMENT TO PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT   AGREEMENT 
(“First Amendment”), dated  as of  , 2021 (“Effective Date”), to  a Planned 
Unit Development Agreement (“Development Agreement”), dated December 14, 2015, by and 
between the VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, an Illinois municipal corporation (“Village”) and 
FRANKLIN CONSOLIDATED, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company and successor to Franklin 
Investors, LLC (“Company”). 

 

IN CONSIDERATION OF the recitals and the mutual covenants and Agreements set forth 

in this First Amendment, the Village and the Company agree as follows: 
 

SECTION 1. RECITALS. 
 

A. As of the Effective Date of this First Amendment, the Company is the owner of 
record of the property located at 7419, 7431, and 7445 Franklin Street, Forest Park, Illinois 
(“Subject Property”), which Property is legally described in Exhibit A attached to and, by this 
reference, made a part of this First Amendment. 

 

B. On or about December 14, 2015, the Village adopted Ordinance No. O-35-15, 
granting the Company a conditional use permit for a planned unit development, approving a 
preliminary and final plat of subdivision, and authorizing the execution of the Development 
Agreement (“PUD Ordinance”). 

 

C. Pursuant to the Development Agreement, the Company has the right to develop 
and use the Subject Property in accordance with the PUD Ordinance and the “Approved Plans,” 
as defined in Section 3 of the Development Agreement (“Approved Plans”). 

 

D. Pursuant to Section 9-6-8 of the Village Zoning Regulations (Title 9 of the Forest 
Park Village Code (“Zoning Regulations”), the PUD Ordinance, and Section 3 of the 
Development Agreement, the Company has requested an amendment to the PUD Ordinance and 
the Development Agreement to allow for the construction of an approximately 4,333 square foot 
addition with a 753 square foot rooftop deck on the eastern portion of the Subject Property 
commonly known as 7149 Franklin Street (“Proposed Addition”), as depicted on plans and 
drawings attached to this First Amendment as Exhibit B (“Revised Plans”). 

 

E. On April 12, 2021, the Council of the Village of Forest Park adopted Ordinance No. 
O- -21, amending the PUD Ordinance to authorize the Proposed Addition subject to certain 
conditions, and approving and authorizing execution of this First Amendment (“PUD Amendment 
Ordinance”). 

 

F. The Village and the Company now desire to amend the Development Agreement, 
in accordance with Section 3 of the Agreement, to authorize the Proposed Addition in accordance 
with the PUD Amendment Ordinance and the conditions set forth in this First Amendment. 

 
 

 
1 

#72138508_v1SRD980629.4 



SRD980629.4 2  

SECTION 2. DEFINITIONS; RULES OF CONSTRUCTION. 
 

A. Definitions. All capitalized words and phrases used throughout this First 
Amendment have the meanings set forth in the various provisions of this First Amendment. If a 
word or phrase is not specifically defined in this First Amendment, it has the same meaning as in 
the Development Agreement. 

 

B. Rules of Construction. Except as specifically provided in this First Amendment, 
all terms, provisions and requirements contained in the Development Agreement remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect. In the event of a conflict between the text of the 
Development Agreement and the text of this First Amendment, the text of this First Amendment 
controls. 

 

SECTION 3. AMENDMENT. 
 

A. Amendment of Approved Plans. Pursuant to Section 3 of the Development 
Agreement, the Approved Plans are amended to include the Revised Plans. To 
the extent of any conflict between the Revised Plans and the Approved Plans 
approved as part of the Development Agreement, the Revised Plans attached to 
this First Amendment will control. 

 

a. Application for Zoning Action 
b. Project Narrative (“Planned Development Proposed Addition,” 6 pages, revised 

December 24,2020) 
c. Map of Existing Zoning Districts (undated) 
d. Plat of Subdivision (3 pages, dated November 13, 2015) 
e. Alta/ACSM Land Title Survey (2 pages, dated November 14, 2016) 
f. Traffic Planning Study (22 pages, dated January 5, 2021, by Gewalt 

Hamilton Associates) 
g. Proposed Elevations (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 
h. First Floor Plan (dated December 11, 2020) 
i. Second Floor Plan (dated December 11, 2020) 
j. Proposed Site Plan (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 
k. Existing 

Conditions Site Plan (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 
l. Roof Deck Graphic Section View SK4.0 (dated February 11, 2021, 

by Ridgeland Associates) 
m. Truck Operations Plan (undated, by Gewalt Hamilton Associates) 
n. Fence Plan (dated March 26, 2021, by Ridgeland Associates) 

 
B. Additional Requirements. Section 10, entitled “Additional Requirements,” of the 

Development Agreement, is hereby amended to add the following new requirements: 
 

1. Except for deliveries, the on-site truck relocation will be prohibited between buildings 
on the Subject Property from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. 

2. The applicant shall install new directional off-site and on-site signage for truck 
movements as provided in the Truck Operations Plan and subject to final review and 
approval by the Village Engineer and the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

3. Trucks are required to continue to enter and exit from the west except when  using 



SRD980629.4 3  

loading docks at the southeast corner of the Subject Property. 
4. Other than trucks of standard delivery services such as UPS, Federal Express, and 

Amazon, trucks delivering materials to the Company will not be permitted to park nor 
idle between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. on either side of the Franklin Street and Circle 
Avenue frontages of the Subject Property. 

5. No truck refrigerator units are to be used at the loading docks of the Subject Property 
between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. 

6. No cooking is to take place within the 7419 building, including the proposed addition 
and in no event shall food processing operations be expanded into the connected 
garage structure, without an amendment to the Original PUD Ordinance and PUD 
Agreement, as amended. 

7. The hours and operation/occupancy for the roof deck shall be limited to 6:00 a.m. to 
11:00 p.m. 

8. The roof deck is limited to 753 square feet in size and shall be in substantial 
conformance with the Project Plans. 

9. Roof deck lighting shall be “down lighting” subject to final review and approval by 
the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

10. The final material of the 6’ screen of the roof deck will be as depicted in the Roof 
Deck Graphic Section View SK 4.0, subject to review and approval by the Director 
of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

11. Landscaping per the original PUD that has died or is depleted will be replaced before 
the issuance of a final Certificate of Occupancy, subject to seasonal planting 
restrictions and approval of the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

12. The applicant will remove the current chain link fence/barbed wire fence and replace 
it with a combination of wrought-iron like open fence and wrought-iron like with 
infilled synthetic slats, as depicted in the Proposed Fence Plan, along the southern 
perimeter of the Subject Property. The fence materials will provide visual and noise 
screening for the portions of the property that are beyond fifteen (15) feet from the 
west and center entrances to the Subject Property. No trucks shall be permitted to 
park on the Subject Property adjacent to the open areas of the fence along Franklin. 
The Company shall install traffic control warning signs at the entrances, to control 
both truck ingress and egress and warning pedestrians. The final fence to be 
constructed is subject to final review and approval by the Director of Building, 
Planning, and Zoning for compliance with the Proposed Fence Plan. 

13. The applicant will identify a “Community Contact Representative” who will be 
primarily responsible for monitoring and promptly responding to messages received. 
The name, phone number, and email of a specific person shall be provided to the 
Director of Building, Planning & Zoning and listed on the company website. 
Additionally, a 24-hour phone number shall be prominently listed on the company’s 
website. 

14. A construction schedule shall be submitted prior to the issuance of a building permit. 
15. All construction shall comply with the Building Code of the Village of Forest Park, 

with final plans subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer and the 
Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

16. Final engineering shall be approved by the Village’s consulting engineer prior to 
issuance of building permits for the exterior work. 

17. No building permits and no Certificate of Occupancy for the Subject Property shall 
be issued by the Department of Public Health and Safety to the Owner unless all 
debts owed to the Village of Forest Park by the Owner have been paid in full prior to 
the issuance of such permits or certificates. 

18. Any violation of the above conditions will result in a violation of the Municipal  code 



SRD980629.4 4  

of the Village of Forest Park and the owner may be subject to fines for each day said 
violation exists. 

 

SECTION 4. RECORDING; BINDING EFFECT. 
 

A copy of this First Amendment will be recorded in the Cook County Clerk's Recordings 
Division against the Subject Property at the Company’s sole cost. This First Amendment and the 
privileges, obligations, and provisions contained in this First Amendment run with the Subject 
Property and inure to the benefit of, and are and will be binding upon, the Company and its 
personal representatives, successors, and assigns. 

 

SECTION 5. REPRESENTATIONS. 
 

A. By the Village. The Village hereby represents and warrants that: (1) the persons 
executing this First Amendment on its behalf have been properly authorized to do so by the Village 
Council; (2) it has full power and authority to execute and deliver this First Amendment and to 
perform all of its obligations imposed pursuant to this First Amendment; and (3) this First 
Amendment constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Village enforceable in 
accordance with its terms. 

 

B. By the Company. The Company hereby represents and warrants that: (1) the 
persons executing this First Amendment on its behalf have been properly authorized to do so; (2) 
it has full power and authority to execute and deliver this First Amendment and to perform all of 
its obligations imposed pursuant to this First Amendment; and (3) this First Amendment 
constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company enforceable in accordance with 
its terms. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have hereunto set their hands on the date first above 
written. 

 

ATTEST: VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK 
 
   By:  Village Clerk 
  Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 

 
 

ATTEST: FRANKLIN CONSOLIDATED, LLC 
An Illinois limited liability company 

 
By:   By:  

Its:   Its:    



SRD980629.4 
 

EXHIBIT                         A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY 

PARCEL 1: 
 
LOT 1 IN THE FINAL PLAT OF FRANKLIN SUBDIVISION, BEING A PART OF THE NORTH 1/2 
OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE 
THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED AS 
DOCUMENT NUMBER 1602544024, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 

 
PARCEL 2: 

 
NON-EXCLUSIVE DRIVEWAY EASEMENT FOR THE BENEFIT OF PARCEL 1, AS CREATED 
BY DEED FROM CHICAGO AND NORTHWESTERN RAILWAY COMPANY TO E. W. KNEIP, 
INCORPORATED RECORDED DECEMBER 9, 1966 AS DOCUMENT 20018802, OVER THE 
FOLLOWING DESCRIBED REAL ESTATE: 

 
THAT PART OF THE NORTH 1/2 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 39 
NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, BOUNDED AND 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

 
COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF CIRCLE AVENUE, 183.00 
FEET WEST OF, AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE CENTERLINE OF HARLEM 
AVENUE; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID 
CIRCLE AVENUE, A DISTANCE OF 490.70 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF SAID 
EASEMENT, SAID POINT OF BEGINNING ALSO BEING THE MOST SOUTHERLY CORNER 
OF A TRACT OF LAND, AS CONVEYED BY QUIT CLAIM DEED DATED JULY 5, 1963 FROM 
THE CHICAGO AND NORTHWESTERN RAILWAY COMPANY TO MAX GOLDSTEIN, EVA 
GOLDSTEIN AND BESSIE GOLDSTEIN, AND RECORDED AUGUST 23, 1963 AS DOCUMENT 
18893094; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 109 
DEGREES, 58 MINUTES MEASURED COUNTER CLOCKWISE FROM A STRAIGHT LINE 
DRAWN FROM THE POINT OF COMMENCEMENT TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, A 
DISTANCE OF 90.5 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT 72.00 FEET SOUTH OF, AS 
MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY 
COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST; THENCE WEST ALONG A LINE 
PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF 
HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST, TO A POINT 1140.00 FEET WEST OF THE 
CENTERLINE OF SAID HARLEM AVENUE, AS MEASURED ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH 
THE NORTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, 
EXTENDED WEST; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE, A DISTANCE OF 97.7 
FEET TO A POINT 84.00 FEET SOUTH OF, AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE 
SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, 
EXTENDED WEST; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE, A DISTANCE OF 76.1 
FEET TO A POINT 102.00 FEET SOUTH OF, AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE 
SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, 
EXTENDED WEST; THENCE SOUTH ALONG A LINE DRAWN AT RIGHT ANGLES TO THE 
NORTH LINE OF FRANKLIN STREET TO A POINT 43.00 FEET NORTH OF, AS MEASURED 
AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE NORTH LINE OF THE PROPERTY AND EXTENSION 
THEREOF, AS CONVEYED FROM SAID RAILWAY COMPANY TO THE CITIES SERVICE OIL 

 

Exhibit A-1 



SRD980629.4 2  

COMPANY BY QUIT CLAIM DEED DATED FEBRUARY 25, 1963 AND RECORDED MARCH 8, 
1963, AS DOCUMENT 18737524; THENCE WEST ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE 
NORTH LINE OF THE PROPERTY CONVEYED BY SAID DEED DATED FEBRUARY 25, 1963 
TO A LINE DRAWN AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID 
RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST AND DISTANT 
1707.00 FEET WEST OF, AS MEASURED ALONG SAID SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE FROM THE 
CENTERLINE OF SAID HARLEM AVENUE; THENCE SOUTH ALONG A LINE DRAWN AT 
RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST 
OF HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST TO THE NORTH LINE OF THE PROPERTY 
CONVEYED BY SAID DEED DATED FEBRUARY 25, 1963, EXTENDED WESTERLY; THENCE 
EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE PROPERTY CONVEYED BY SAID DEED 
DATED FEBRUARY 25, 1963 AND THE WESTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF (BEING ALSO 
THE NORTH LINE OF PARCEL 5 AND THE EASTERLY EXTENSION THEREOF) TO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER OF THE PROPERTY CONVEYED BY SAID DEED DATED FEBRUARY 
25, 1963; THENCE NORTH ALONG A LINE DRAWN AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE NORTH 
LINE OF SAID FRANKLIN STREET TO A POINT 8.5 FEET SOUTH OF, AS MEASURED AT 
RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE CENTERLINE OF SPUR TRACK I.C.C. NO. 367 OF SAID 
RAILWAY COMPANY, AS NOW LOCATED AND ESTABLISHED; THENCE EAST ALONG A 
LINE PARALLEL WITH THE CENTERLINE OF SAID SPUR TRACK, A DISTANCE OF 162.00 
FEET; THENCE NORTH ALONG A LINE DRAWN AT RIGHT ANGLES TO THE SOUTH 
BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED 
WEST, TO A POINT 102.00 FEET SOUTH OF, AS MEASURED AT RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE 
SOUTH BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID RAILWAY COMPANY, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, 
EXTENDED WEST; THENCE EAST ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH 
BOUNDARY LINE, EAST OF HARLEM AVENUE, EXTENDED WEST, A DISTANCE OF 230.00 
FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A POINT 50.00 FEET SOUTHWESTERLY OF, AS MEASURED AT 
RIGHT ANGLES FROM THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF THE TRACT OF LAND, AS 
CONVEYED IN SAID DEED DATED FEBRUARY 25, 1963; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY 
ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID TRACT OF LAND, A 
DISTANCE OF 81.00 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF SAID 
CIRCLE AVENUE; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF 
SAID CIRCLE AVENUE, A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS. 



SRD980629.4  

EXHIBIT B 

REVISED PLANS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Exhibit B-1 



 

Village of Forest Park 

Memorandum 

 
TO: Village Council 

 

FROM: Steve Glinke, Director- Building, Planning, & Zoning 

DATE: April 7, 2021 

RE: PC2021-01: 7419 W. Franklin Street 
 

 

The Applicant, Franklin Foods, Inc. (Farmington Foods), is requesting an amendment to the Planned 

Development granted by Ordinance No. O-35-15 in 2015 to allow the construction of an approximately 

8,666 square foot addition (approximately 4,333 square feet over two floors) that will connect two 

existing buildings on the southeastern part of the site. Per 9-6-8 of the Forest Park Zoning Ordinance, 

the proposed addition constitutes “major changes” to the approved Planned Development due to an 

increase in overall coverage of the site that exceeds 5%. 

 

The Plan Commission held a public hearing regarding this request on February 1, 2021. The Plan 

Commission recommended approval with a direction to staff to work with the applicant on five 

issues: 
1. Idling trucks 

2. On-site circulation including truck hours and traffic 

3. Screening along Franklin Street (visual and noise) 

4. Roof deck 

5. Odor 

 

Subsequent to the Plan Commission public hearing, the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning, 

the Village Planner, and the Village Attorney worked with the applicant’s attorney to address these 

issues along with issues raised by neighbors and to ensure compliance with the original PD agreement. 

The attached Plan Commission staff report, draft Ordinance, and draft Planned Development 

Agreement provide additional information on the proposal and staff’s consensus on final 

recommendations. Staff is proposing 17 conditions related to on-site circulation, hours restrictions on 

refrigeration units, roof deck, screening along Franklin Street, and the establishment  of a “community 

contact representative” at Franklin Foods to address neighbor concerns. Through a collaborative effort, 

several meetings, and significant email correspondence in the last two months, the applicant concurs 

with some but not all of the conditions proposed by staff. The applicant has detailed these points in 

two documents included in the Village Board packet. One such example is  the clearance for the 

proposed fence along Franklin Street. The proposed condition requires 15 feet  of open fence from 

either side of an access point to provide visibility for incoming and outgoing trucks and vehicles. This 

proposed condition is based on a recommendation from the Village Engineer. The applicant is 

proposing 25 feet and the current Fence Plan included in the planned development exhibits reflects 

this. 



 

ZBA 2004-06 

Page 2 

 
Staff stands by the conditions set forth in the draft ordinance. The neighborhood has changed 

significantly since Farmington first came to Forest Park and on site operations have accelerated in 

scope and land usage. Quality of life impacts on the surrounding residential neighborhood demand 

equal weight and some measure of compromise. 



{0{00011191891580.13}.4} 1  

Statement in Support of Planned Unit Development Amendment 

Farmington Foods, Inc. 

Franklin Consolidated, LLC 

Village of Forest Park 

April 7, 2021 

 
I. Background. 

 
Farmington, and its predecessor and related corporate affiliates, is a family-owned 

and operated business that has been operating a facility for food processing and related 
uses on Franklin Street in Forest Park since 1972 – almost 50 years. Today at the site 
Farmington continues to process raw and fully cooked pork, beef, poultry and vegetables 
for human consumption for local, state, national, and international customers. Farmington 
currently employs more than 150 people at the Forest Park property. 

 

In 2015, after a full and complete public hearing and due and public consideration 
by the Village Council in conjunction with the approval of an addition to the original 
Farmington building on the western portion of the property, the Village Council 
unanimously granted, among other approvals, a Planned Unit Development and a 
Development Agreement authorizing the continued operation of the Farmington facilities 
in accordance with the numerous terms and conditions contained in the PUD Ordinance 
and the Development Agreement, both of which remain in full force and effect today. 

 
Significantly, as part of the 2015 approvals, Farmington’s uses on the property 

were fully vetted by the Village Council and the approval ordinance specifically found that 
uses on the site were consistent with the Village’s Comprehensive Plan and that with the 
conditions included in the 2015 ordinance, Farmington’s operations were compatible with 
surrounding areas, including the residential uses to the south of the property. 

 
II. Current Proposal. 

 
Farmington is proposing to construct a relatively small addition to the eastern 

facilities on the property in the space between the main building to the north and the 
smaller one-story brick garage building to the south. This garage building fronts on 
Franklin.  The proposed addition will not front on Franklin. 

 
The need for the proposed addition is largely dictated by market forces triggered 

by the COVID-19 pandemic. As we have all seen over the past year, the public’s food- 

buying routines have changed. Today, the demand from Farmington’s customers for 

retail, grocery store purchases has increased, while the demand for restaurant-type 

products has decreased. The packaging for these two types of products are not the same. 

The consumer size packaging for retail grocery store products requires different systems 

and machinery configuration, and that configuration adjustment necessitates some 

modest additional space for those production lines. 



{0{00011191891580.13}.4} 2  

You will see this in the plans that we have submitted. The additional line 

configuration relates to pre-price weighing, labeling, tray and sleeve, and overwrap 

processes related to retail products, and not to restaurant-type products. Significantly, the 

adjusted lines do not extend into the full width of the proposed addition. Rather, a 

significant amount of the space in the proposed addition is reserved at the end of the lines 

to be used for staging and worker spaces. 

 
To accommodate the new equipment configuration, staff and related offices will be 

located on the second floor of the addition, with the required ADA elevator to be provided 

as well, along with the ability to utilize the northeast corner of the rooftop of the garage 

for employee lunch and break time. 

 

Ordinarily, a project such as this would not require special zoning approvals and 
would simply require plan and engineering submittals and the issuance of a building 
permit. However, because of the strict requirements of the PUD Ordinance that apply to 
the subject property, the proposed addition requires what is called a “major amendment” 
to the PUD Ordinance. 

 
There are seven types of changes that constitute a “major” change. Only one of 

them applies to the Farmington project, even then, just barely. Specifically, the one 
change that is triggered by this project is the provision that says that an increase in lot 
coverage over 5 percent of the existing lot coverage is considered a “major” change. 
Farmington’s proposed addition will have a footprint of approximately 4,333 square feet, 
which is just 627 square feet over the 5 percent threshold. Accordingly, we proceeded in 
accordance with the procedures in the PUD Ordinance and the Village Zoning Code to 
request a “major” amendment to the PUD to authorize the construction of the proposed 
addition. 

 
Significantly, other than to allow for the construction of the proposed addition in a 

location on the property that the original PUD documents and plans showed as vacant 
space in between the main building and the garage, no other changes are being 
requested to the PUD Ordinance or to the Development Agreement. 

 
III. Limited Nature of Proposal. 

 
We want to emphasize the following to demonstrate the very limited scope of what 

is being requested: 

 
 The proposed addition does not involve and will not expand in any way, the 

limitation on cooking of animal products as set forth in the 2015 PUD Ordinance. 

 With the proposed addition, the total lot coverage on the property will be 
approximately 41 percent. That is well under half of the 85 percent maximum lot 
coverage ordinarily allowed under the Village’s planned development regulations. 

 The proposed addition height will be approximately 21 feet, 1 inch. That is a couple 
of inches less than the maximum height allowed under the 2015 PUD Ordinance 



{0{00011191891580.13}.4} 3  

and less than a third of the maximum height of 75 feet or 6 stories allowed under 
the I-1 underlying district zoning regulations. 

 Nothing about the proposed addition will change the nature of Farmington’s 

operations on the subject property as approved by the Village in 2015. 

 The proposed addition will in no way change the essential character and uses that 

have existed on the property for decades. 

 Farmington is not requesting any changes to the western portion of the property or 

to any of the facilities located there. 

 Farmington is not requesting any change to the permitted uses on the subject 

property and is not requesting any allowances for the introduction of any new uses 

on the subject property 

 Farmington is not requesting any changes to any of the restrictions and provisions 

already set forth in the 2015 PUD Ordinance and the Development Agreement. 

 Farmington is not requesting any variations from any of the applicable zoning code 

provisions that apply to this property, including those regulations applicable to the 

I-1 underlying zoning district. 

 Farmington is not requesting any change to the parking and loading regulations 

that already apply to the subject property. 

 The garage is currently used for storage and maintenance and it will continue to 

be used for storage and maintenance. Farmington is not requesting any approvals 

related to the permitted uses of the garage. 

 
With regard to parking – it is critically important to note that the proposed addition will 

not cause any increase in employees on the subject property. Industrial uses under the 

Village’s zoning code require 1 space for every two employees. The 2015 PUD Ordinance 

set out that 87 parking spaces were required and that no less than 116 parking spaces, 

including 5 accessible spaces, were provided at the time on site. Because the proposed 

addition will not cause any changes to the Farmington employee headcount, Farmington 

will continue to comply with the zoning code and PUD off-street parking requirements. 

 
With regard to other traffic matters, Farmington retained Gewalt Hamilton to prepare 

a report, which is included in our materials, regarding car and truck traffic and parking at 

the site.  The key findings from this report are as follows: 

 
 The proposed addition will not necessitate or cause any new changes to the traffic 

patterns of ingress and egress to the property. Access will remain the same. Most 

employees and trucks will continue to utilize the western most access drive. 

 No roadway improvements are required as result of the proposed addition. In fact, 

the most recently available 5-year incident data along Franklin Street between 

Circle and Brown Avenue/Des Plaines Ave. shows only seven incidents over the 

five years, just two of which involved moving vehicles, the rest involving fixed 



{0{00011191891580.13}.4} 4  

objects. None of the incidents involved personal injuries. No pedestrian or bike 

incidents were reported. 

 Because no new employees will be added as a result of the proposed addition, no 

new vehicle trips are anticipated to be generated. 

 Approximately 69% of the truck movements occur during the weekday peak times 

of 6 – 9 am and 3 – 6 pm. 

 Neither the daily nor the weekly truck volumes are expected to change as a result 

of the proposed addition. 

 There is currently adequate on-site parking for Farmington employees and thus no 

change to parking operations are necessary for the proposed addition. 

 The proposed addition will have only negligible impacts on area road operations, 

will not result in more employees (and thus more cars) and will not create any 

increase in truck trips. 

 
IV. Plan Commission Public Hearing 

 
The Village Plan Commission held the required public hearing on the proposed 

amendment on February 1. As part of those procedures Farmington provided actual, 
individual notice to the 248 property owners within 250 feet of the Farmington Property. 
In fact, because of the postponement of the public hearing from January 4 to February 1, 
those 248 property owners each received two written notices about the proposed project. 
At the public hearing, only Mr. Kovac and his attorney appeared in person. No other 
nearby property owner attended or spoke at the public hearing. There was one written 
correspondence from a resident that was read into the record. 

 

The Plan Commission Chair correctly explained that the only issue before the Plan 
Commission was the amendment to the Planned Development to allow the proposed 
addition. He also noted that the proposed addition was a “neutral event for the neighbors,” 
because the proposed addition does not change any of the uses on the property. 

 
At the conclusion of the public hearing, the Plan Commission voted unanimously 

to recommend to the Village Council that the amendment to the Planned Unit 
Development to authorize the proposed addition be approved. Included with that 
recommendation was direction to staff and Farmington to discuss additional issues 
related to trucks, screening, cooking hours, and the addition of the rooftop deck on the 
garage. 

 
V. Additional Farmington Commitments. 

 
Farmington is, of course, sensitive to the fact that there are different types of uses 

in relatively close proximity to its operations, including residential uses. That has, of 
course, been the case for all of the almost half century of Farmington’s operations at its 
current location. 



{0{00011191891580.13}.4} 5  

Farmington is very proud to continue to call the Village of Forest Park its home and 
it remains committed to being a good member of the community and neighbor to the 
properties around its facilities. 

 
Farmington appreciates and understands all of the Village regulations under the 

PUD and the Development Agreement that apply to its property and it will remain vigilant 
in responding to and complying with all of the regulations that apply to its property and 
operations. 

 
In response to the Plan Commission’s request, Farmington and the staff have 

discussed and communicated extensively concerning issues raised. The following is a 
summary of the additional steps to which Farmington is prepared to agree as part of the 
Council’s approval of the PUD amendment and in response to additional conditions that 
Village staff has proposed: 

 
Trucks and Sound: 

 Trucks will be required to continue to enter and exit from the west, except for the 

relatively minor amount of trucks that use the loading docks at the southeast 

corner of the property. 

 No refrigerator units are utilized at the loading docks at the southwestern-facing 

southeast corner of the property. Current and expected uses of those docks will 

continue to be for non-refrigerated dry goods and the existing refuse compactor. 

 A total of three southwestern-facing loading docks will be eliminated from the 
southeast corner of the property as part of the proposed addition. 

 Farmington will continue to be required to comply with the existing PUD 

requirement that mandates that, except for loading and unloading, all refrigerated 

trucks will be directed to the area on the site that is north of the expanded 7431 

Franklin Street building. 

 Farmington will maintain the striped area north of the 7431 Franklin Street building 

to help ensure that trucks are staged in a way that significantly limits any possible 

impact on properties to the south. Specifically, if a truck is waiting for a dock door, 

then it is staged to the north of the 7431 addition. 

 Farmington will implement an enhanced signage program to help ensure that 

trucks are not stopped or otherwise idling on Franklin Street and have clear 

direction to the westernmost entrance to the property. A "Truck Operations Plan" 

exhibit, attached to our submitted materials, shows the locations for signage that 

would direct trucks to the correct ingress/egress location (west access drive). Our 

submitted materials also include sample signage that Farmington could make for 

these purposes. 

 Farmington will continue to maintain all equipment in accordance with equipment 

manufacture specifications and all other applicable regulations. Farmington will 

maintain policies that require its employees to immediately report any irregular 

sound of any equipment to the appropriate supervisor and or directly to the 

maintenance team. Depending upon the equipment and the severity, trained 



{0{00011191891580.13}.4} 6  

employees are authorized to shut down such equipment while it is being 

serviced. 

 With regard to Dock Door No. 1 at the 7431 building (which is the Dock Door that 

faces east and is closest to the properties to the south), in June of 2020, 

Farmington undertook significant electrical work in conjunction with its purchase 

and installation of a new electric whisper quiet trailer refrigeration unit for use at 

this Dock Door.  Farmington will maintain this equipment at this location. 

 As a food facility that is USDA inspected daily and SQF Level II Certified, 
Farmington will continue to operate with its doors and windows closed. 

 Farmington will continue its ongoing effort to minimize interbuilding truck 

transports on the site during overnight hours. 

Smell: 

 All Farmington cooking takes place within the 7431 Building. No cooking will take 
place within the 7419 building or the proposed addition to the 7419 building. 

 Farmington is currently utilizing, and will continue to utilize, state of the art 

afterburners on its stacks. 

 Farmington does and will continue to comply with the limitations on cooking set 

forth in the 2015 PUD Ordinance. 

 Farmington does and will continue to comply with 35 Illinois Administrative Code, 

title 35 Section 245.121(a), the state regulation that sets a specific standard for 

improper industrial odors adjacent to residential uses. 

Sight: 

 As has been the case since 2019, the transfer of certain products depicted in an 

outdated 2017 photo provided to Village staff and referenced at the Plan 

Commission meeting, will continue to take place at Dock Door No. 8 at the 7419 

building, which is the northernmost Dock Door on the property. That process is 

screened by other trailers occupying Dock Doors 1 -7 at the 7419 building. 

 Farmington will maintain the additional air curtain at Dock Door No. 8 in conjunction 

with this process. 

Screening/Fencing: 

 Farmington has agreed to replace the current chain link fence and any existing 

barbed wire fence with a new wrought iron-like fence along the southern perimeter 

of the property up to the west wall of the garage building. 

 The Proposed Fence Plan included with the materials provides the specific fence 
elevation and measurement details. 

 Farmington will provide the solid portion of the fence up to a 25-foot point on both 

sides of the center and western entrances. 

 Farmington will also replace any previously required landscaping that has died. 



{0{00011191891580.13}.4} 7  

Rooftop Deck: 

 The roof deck will be limited to 753 square feet, located in the far northeast corner 

of the garage roof. The details of the rooftop deck are included in the submitted 

materials. These plans show the specific roof deck location, dimensions, and 

layout, along with site lines to the properties to the south. It should be noted that 

during the months of the year when the rooftop deck will be most frequently utilized, 

the properties to the south will be further screened by the large tree located on the 

south side of Franklin directly across the street from the garage building. 

 The southernmost edge of the roof deck will be no closer than 46.5 feet to the 

south face of the garage, and thus well over 100 feet from the properties to the 

south and across Franklin Street. 

 There is a parapet wall of approximately two feet in height above the roof surface. 

 There will be a six-foot-high screen along the southern portion of the deck as 

shown on the submitted exhibit. 

 All lighting on the roof deck will be pointed down and focused on the rook deck. 

 Other than maintenance activities, the rooftop deck will not be utilized between 

11:00 pm and 6:00 am. 

Community Contact Information: 

 Farmington will provide a 24-hour phone number. The phone number may utilize 

a recorded answering system. Farmington will also designate one of its personnel 

as a Community Contact Representative who will be primarily responsible for 

monitoring and promptly responding to messages that are received. Farmington 

will provide this information on its website and to the Village. 

Staff Report Conditions: 

 The January 25 Staff Report provided to the Plan Commission contained the 

following recommended conditions, all of which Farmington has agreed to: 
 

o The property shall be developed and operated in substantial compliance 
with the plans submitted and testimony provided by the applicant and the 
previous Planned Development conditions; 

o All construction shall comply with the Building Code of the Village of Forest 
Park, with final plans subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer 
and the Director-Building, Planning, and Zoning; 

o Final engineering shall be approved by the Village’s consulting engineer 
prior to issuance of building permits for the exterior work. 

o No building permits and no Certificate of Occupancy for the Subject 
Property shall be issued by the Department of Public Health and Safety to 
the Owner unless all debts owed to the Village of Forest Park by the Owner 
have been paid in full prior to the issuance of such permits or certificate. 



{0{00011191891580.13}.4} 8  

o Any violation of the above conditions will result in a violation of the Municipal 
Code of the Village of Forest Park and the owner may be subject to fines 
for each day said violation exists. 

o Additional information shall be submitted, subject to review and approval by 
staff, regarding construction schedule prior to the issuance of a building 
permit. 

o Hours of operation/occupancy for the roof deck shall be limited to 6:00 a.m. 
to 11:00 p.m. 

 

We want to thank the Village Staff -- particularly the Village Manager Tim Gillian, 
the Building, Planning, and Zoning Director, Steve Glinke, the Village Attorneys, and the 
Village’s plan review consultant Courtney Kashima from Muse Community and Design. 
You should take comfort that all of these Village officials have all been strict 
constructionists with us, making certain that all application requirements were clearly 
identified and followed. 

There remain four conditions that Farmington and staff have not reached 
agreement on. We have included in our materials a three-page document outlining the 
open issues and Farmington’s specific reasoning behind each of its positions. 

 

We want to emphasize the following -- Farmington understands and appreciates 
the Council’s need to thoroughly analyze land use decisions that involve potential impacts 
on neighboring properties. Despite the fact that the proposed addition will not add any 
new uses or change any of the existing uses that take place on the property, Farmington 
has fully and comprehensively engaged in trying to respond to all reasonable comments. 
Farmington takes a certain degree of pride in its traffic safety record on and around the 
property and the fact that despite almost 500 public notices, only two residents (other than 
Mr. Kovac) voiced any concerns about Farmington or the proposed amendment. 

 
Village approval of Farmington’s proposed addition will require adoption of an 

ordinance amending the 2015 PUD Ordinance. That ordinance will include a number of 
conditions to memorialize the matters discussed above. We have worked very hard to 
create conditions that are acceptable to both Farmington and to Village staff. I am 
attaching the most current version of the Ordinance and a list of the other documents that 
we have submitted in support of our request. Section 7 includes the conditions that 
Farmington is ready to commit to. 

 
Farmington believes that the proposed ordinance reasonably considers the 

community and the sensitivities of the two residents and at the same time the critical 
needs of this long-standing Forest Park business. Farmington respectively requests the 
Council’s approval of the PUD amendment so that Farmington can proceed on behalf of 
its customers and all of the families that rely on this business. 



980227_1 

1 
{0{000111199580128.3.}1}  

ORDINANCE NO. O-_  -21 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN 

AMENDMENT TO A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

AND GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR AN AMENDMENT 

TO A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR FARMINGTON FOODS, IN 

THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

(PC 2021-01:  7419, 7431, 7445 Franklin) 

 

WHEREAS, on December 14, 2015, the Village of Forest Park ("Village") enacted 

Ordinance No. O-35-15, entitled "AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND GRANTING A CONDITIONAL USE 

PERMIT FOR A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT, AND APPROVING A PRELIMINARY 

AND FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION  FOR  FARMINGTON  FOODS IN THE  VILLAGE   OF 

FOREST PARK, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS" ("Original PUD Ordinance") for a planned unit 

development (“Planned Unit Development”) on the property legally described in Exhibit A, 

attached hereto, and commonly described as “Farmington Foods,” located at 7419, 7431, 7445 

Franklin Street, Forest Park, Illinois ("Subject Property"); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Original PUD Ordinance, the Village and Farmington 

Foods, Inc. and Franklin Investors, LLC entered into a Planned Unit Development 

Agreement, dated December 14, 2015 (“PUD Agreement”) for the Subject Property; and 

WHEREAS, Franklin Consolidated, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company 

(“Company”), as successor and current owner of the Subject Property, has applied for an 

amendment to the current Planned Unit Development approved by the Original PUD 

Ordinance to construct an approximately 8,666 square foot addition (approximately 4,333 

square feet over two floors), with a 753 square foot rooftop deck area that will connect two 

existing buildings on the southeastern part of the Subject Property (the “PUD Amendment”); 

and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 9-6-8 of the Village Zoning Ordinance, the proposed 

PUD Amendment constitutes a major change to the approved Planned Unit Development, due 

to an overall coverage of the site that exceeds 5%; and 

WHEREAS, the Subject Property is located in an I-1 Zoning District within the 

Village and is granted a conditional use for a Planned Unit Development pursuant to the 

Original PUD Ordinance; and 



980227_1 

2 
{0{000111199580128.3.}1}  

WHEREAS, pursuant to proper legal notice, a public hearing on the Company’s 

application for the PUD Amendment was conducted by the Plan Commission on February 1, 

2021; and 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 2021, the Plan Commission considered the testimony and 

public comment, reviewed the evidence presented, and issued its recommendation to approve 

the PUD Amendment; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Village that the application for the PUD 

Amendment be approved and that an amendment to the PUD Agreement by and between the 

Village of Forest Park and the Company (“First Amendment to PUD Agreement”) be 

approved by the corporate authorities of the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Company is ready, willing and able to enter into said First 

Amendment to PUD Agreement and perform the obligations as required therein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the Village of Forest 

Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1. The recitals set forth in the preamble are hereby incorporated herein by 

reference and made a part of this Ordinance. 

Section 2. Findings:  The Corporate Authorities find as follows: 

1. The proposed improvements comply with the regulations of the underlying zoning district. The 

proposed addition complies with the regulations governing the Subject Property, including 

specifically the regulations of the underlying I-1 zoning  district  as modified by  the Original 

PUD Ordinance approved in 2015. The proposed  addition  requires  no variations or zoning 

relief other than approval of the changes to the approved plans to incorporate the proposed 

addition. The proposed addition does not require any exceptions under the Village Zoning 

Regulations. The use of the proposed addition will be consistent with the uses that have existed 

on the Subject Property for over 40 years and that were approved by the Village pursuant to 

the Original PUD Ordinance. The proposed addition  will not involve or expand in any way 

the limitation on cooking of animal products as set forth in the  Original  PUD Ordinance. 
 

 

 

 

2. The proposed planned development is consistent  with  the  comprehensive  plan’s  future land 

use map.  The proposed addition is consistent  with the official planning policies and   the 

comprehensive plan of the Village. Section 2 of the Original  PUD  Ordinance  specifically 

found that the Planned Unit Development granted in 2015 was consistent with  the Village’s 

comprehensive plan and nothing about the proposed  addition  changes  the nature  or  scope 

of the  Planned  Unit Development. 



980227_1 

3 
{0{000111199580128.3.}1}  

 
 

 

 

 

3. The planned development is compatible with and will not diminish the economic value of 
the surrounding area. The surrounding area includes commercial, industrial, and 

residential areas. The proposed addition adds no new uses to the Subject Property and does 

not change any existing uses on the Subject Property, which uses have existed on the 

Subject Property for more than 40 years, as determined by the Village in 2015 in the 

Original PUD Ordinance. 
 

 

 

 

4. Based on the scope of the proposed  addition, there are no unusual physical, topographical    or 

historical features of the site of the planned development to be preserved. The proposed 

addition will not interfere with or impact the Village’s continued use of the Village water tower 

located at the north end of the Subject Property. The proposed  addition  will not  impact any 

unusual physical, topographical or historical features related to the Subject Property. 
 

 

 

 

5. The site is under unified control and has been in operation for several decades. Franklin 
Consolidated, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company, owns the Subject Property. 

 

 

 

 

6. The proposed uses are consistent with current operations and will not exercise undue 

detrimental influence upon surrounding properties. The proposed addition adds no new 

uses to the Subject Property. The Original PUD Ordinance determined that the approved 

Planned Unit Development would have no detrimental influence on surrounding 

properties. The proposed addition is consistent with the 2015 approved Planned Unit 

Development and the proposed addition will not be detrimental to the surrounding 

properties and will in many respects be beneficial to surrounding properties by, among 

other things, the inclusion of agreed-upon additional conditions related to the Subject 

Property and also the removal of three dock doors at the southeast corner of the property 

on Franklin Street. 
 

 

 

 

7. The planned development will not endanger public health, welfare, or safety. The 

proposed addition will alter nothing on the Subject Property that would cause any change 

to the Village Council’s previous findings that the existing uses on the Subject Property 

are compatible with surrounding uses, will minimize impacts on surrounding properties, 

and will not endanger public health, welfare, or safety. The proposed addition  complies 



980227_1 

4 
{0{000111199580128.3.}1}  

with the applicable off-street parking requirements and will not cause any new employees 

to be hired, so the off-street parking requirements remain complied with and unchanged 

from the Original PUD Ordinance. The proposed addition will have only negligible 

impacts on area road operations, will not result in more employees (and thus more cars) 

and will not create any increase in truck trips. 
 

 

 

 

Section 3. The First Amendment to PUD Agreement between the  Village  and  the  Company, 

a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B and made a part hereof, is hereby approved. Upon 

receipt from the Company within seven (7) days of the date of this Ordinance of  four (4) executed 

copies of said First Amendment to PUD Agreement, and any money or securities required to be 

deposited therewith, the Mayor and the Village Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to execute 

and attest to, respectively, said Amendment to PUD Agreement. 

Section 4. Upon execution of the First Amendment to PUD Agreement by the Mayor and 

Village Clerk, the Subject Property is hereby granted a conditional use for the PUD Amendment 

to be developed in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the First Amendment to PUD 

Agreement. 

Section 5. The approval of the conditional  use  for the  PUD  Amendment for the Subject 

Property is subject to the terms and provisions of the Original PUD Ordinance and PUD 

Agreement, and all other conditions and requirements imposed and set forth in the Village Code 

and Zoning Code, as amended, and all other duly enacted ordinances of the Village, except as 

otherwise provided herein or as modified in the First Amendment to PUD Agreement, and shall 

be constructed, developed and operated in strict compliance with the testimony presented on 

behalf of and by the Company and the following plans (“Project Plans”): 

 
a. Application for Zoning Action 

b. Project Narrative (“Planned Development Proposed Addition,” 6 pages, revised 

December 24, 2020) 

c. Map of Existing Zoning Districts (undated) 
d. Plat of Subdivision (3 pages, dated November 13, 2015) 

e. Alta/ACSM Land Title Survey (2 pages, dated November 14, 2016) 

f. Traffic Planning Study (22 pages, dated January 5, 2021, by Gewalt Hamilton 

Associates) 

g. Proposed Elevations (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 
h. First Floor Plan (dated December 11, 2020) 

i. Second Floor Plan (dated December 11, 2020) 

j. Proposed Site Plan (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 



980227_1 

5 
{0{000111199580128.3.}1}  

k. Existing Conditions Site Plan (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 

l. Roof Deck Graphic Section View SK4.0 (dated March 3, 2021, by Ridgeland 

Associates) 

m. Truck Operations Plan (undated, by Gewalt Hamilton Associates) 
n. Proposed Fence Plan (dated March 17, 2021, by Ridgeland Associates) 

Section 6. The First Amendment to PUD Agreement between the Village and the 

Company accurately sets forth all of the agreements between the parties pertaining to the 

development of the Subject Property. 

Section 7. The proposed improvements as approved by the PUD Amendment shall be 

constructed, developed and operated in strict accordance with the terms and conditions of the 

Original PUD Ordinance and PUD Agreement, as amended herein, and subject to the following 

conditions and restrictions: 

1. The Company will use reasonable measures to minimize truck transports between 

buildings on the Subject Property from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. 

2. The applicant shall install new directional off-site and on-site signage for truck 

movements as provided in the Truck Operations Plan and subject to final review and 

approval by the Village Engineer and the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

3. Trucks are required to continue to enter and exit from the west except when using loading 

docks  at the southeast  corner of the  Subject Property. 

4. Other than trucks of standard delivery services such as UPS, Federal Express, and 

Amazon, trucks delivering materials to the Company will not park or idle between 10:00 

p.m. and 6:00 a.m. on either side of the Franklin Street and Circle Avenue frontages of 

the Subject Property. 

5. No refrigerator units are to be used at the western-facing loading docks at the southeast 

corner of the Subject Property. 

6. No cooking is to take place within the 7419 building, including the proposed addition 

and in no event shall food processing operations be expanded into the connected garage 

structure, without an amendment to the Original PUD Ordinance and PUD Agreement, 

as amended. 

7. The hours and operation/occupancy for the roof deck shall be limited to 6:00 a.m. to 

11:00 p.m. 

8. The roof deck is limited to 753 square feet in size and shall be in conformance with the 

Project Plans. 

9. Roof deck lighting shall be “down lighting” subject to final review and approval by the 

Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

10. The final material of the 6’ screen of the roof deck will be as depicted in the Roof Deck 

Graphic Section View SK 4.0, subject to review and approval by the Director of 

Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

11. Landscaping per the original PUD that has died or is depleted will be replaced before the 

issuance of a final Certificate of Occupancy, subject to seasonal planting restrictions and 

approval of the Director  of Building,  Planning, and   Zoning. 

12. The applicant will remove the current chain link fence/barbed wire fence and replace it 

with a combination of wrought-iron like open fence and wrought-iron like with infilled 

synthetic or wood slats, as depicted in the Proposed Fence Plan, along the southern 

perimeter of the Subject Property. The fence materials will provide visual and noise 



980227_1 

6 
{0{000111199580128.3.}1}  

screening for the portions of the property that are beyond 25 feet from the west and center 

entrances to the Subject Property. The Company shall  install  traffic  control  warning  signs 

at the entrances, to control both truck ingress and egress and warning pedestrians. The final  

fence to be constructed is subject to final review and  approval by the Director   of Building, 

Planning, and  Zoning for compliance  with the Proposed  Fence   Plan. 

13. The applicant will identify a “Community Contact Representative” who will be primarily 

responsible for monitoring and promptly responding to messages received.  The  name, phone 

number, and email of a specific person shall be provided to the Director  of  Building, 

Planning & Zoning and listed on the company website. Additionally, a 24-hour phone number 

shall be prominently listed on the     company’s  website. 

14. A construction schedule shall be submitted prior to the issuance of a building permit. 

15. All construction shall comply with the Building Code of the Village of Forest Park, with 

final plans subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer and the Director- 

Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

16. Final engineering shall be approved by the Village’s consulting engineer prior to 

issuance of building permits for the exterior work. 

17. No building permits and no Certificate of Occupancy for the Subject Property shall be issued 

by the Department of Public Health and Safety to the Owner unless all debts owed   to the 

Village of Forest Park by the Owner have been paid in full prior to the issuance of such  

permits  or certificates. 

18. Any violation of the above conditions will result in a violation of the Municipal code of 

the Village of Forest Park and the owner may be subject to fines for each day said 

violation exists. 

 
Section 8. In  all  other  respects,  the terms  and  provisions  of  the Original PUD 

Ordinance and PUD Agreement are ratified and remain in full force and effect. 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



980227_1 

7 
{0{000111199580128.3.}1}  

Section 9. This  Ordinance  shall  be in  full  force  and  effect  upon  is passage and 

approval in the manner provided by law. 

PASSED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois this 22nd day of 

March, 2021. 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:   

 

APPROVED: 
 

 

 

 
 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

 
 

Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 



980227_1 

8 
{0{000111199580128.3.}1}  

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 



980227_1 

9 
{0{000111199580128.3.}1}  

EXHIBIT B 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO PUD AGREEMENT 



 

Documents Submitted in Support of Farmington Request 
 

a. Application for Zoning Action 
b. Project Narrative (“Planned Development Proposed Addition,” 6 pages, revised 

December 24, 2020) 
c. Map of Existing Zoning Districts (undated) 
d. Plat of Subdivision (3 pages, dated November 13, 2015) 
e. Alta/ACSM Land Title Survey (2 pages, dated November 14, 2016) 
f. Traffic Planning Study (22 pages, dated January 5, 2021, by Gewalt Hamilton Associates) 
g. Proposed Elevations (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 
h. First Floor Plan (dated December 11, 2020) 
i. Second Floor Plan (dated December 11, 2020) 
j. Proposed Site Plan (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 
k. Existing Conditions Site Plan (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 
l. Roof Deck Graphic Section View SK4.0 (dated March 3, 2021, by Ridgeland Associates) 
m. Truck Operations Plan (undated, by Gewalt Hamilton Associates) 
n. Proposed Fence Plan (dated March 17, 2021, by Ridgeland Associates) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



 

{0 0 1 1 9 8 1 8 .  1 }  



 

Village of Forest Park 

Memorandum 

 

TO: Plan Commission 

FROM: Steve Glinke, Director- Building, Planning, and Zoning 

RE: PC2021-01:  7419 W. Franklin Street 

Applicant:  Franklin Foods, Inc. (Farmington Foods) 
Owner:  Franklin Consolidated, LLC 

 

DATE OF REPORT: January 25, 2021 

DATE OF PLAN COMMISSION MEETING: February 1, 2021 
 

 

The Applicant, Franklin Foods, Inc. (Farmington Foods), is requesting an amendment to the 

Planned Development granted by Ordinance No. O-35-15 in 2015 to allow the construction of an 

approximately 8,666 square foot addition (approximately 4,333 square feet over two floors) that 

will connect two existing buildings on the southeastern part of the site. Per 9-6-8 of the Forest Park 

Zoning Ordinance, the proposed addition constitutes “major changes” to the approved Planned 

Development due to an increase in overall coverage of the site that exceeds 5%. 

 

Background Information 
 

Applicant: Franklin Foods, Inc. 
7419 W. Franklin Street 

Forest Park, Illinois 60130 

 

Owner: Franklin Consolidated LLC 

7419 W. Franklin Street 

Forest Park, IL 60130 

 

Property Location:   Northwest corner of Franklin Street and Circle Avenue 

 

Current Use: Farmington Foods 

 

Comprehensive Plan Designation: Industrial 

 

Current Zoning: PD4 with an underlying I-1 Light Industrial District 

 

Surrounding Zoning: 

North: I-1 Light Industrial District 

South: R-3 High Density Residential District/B-1 Neighborhood Shopping District 



 

PC2021-01 Staff Report 

Page 2 

 

East: B-2 Community Shopping District 

West: I-1 Light Industrial District 

 
 

Project Photos: 
 

 

FRANKLIN STREET 

Looking east/northeast; 

proposed site of addition 



 

PC2021-01 Staff Report 

Page 3 

 
 

Project Documents: 

 

The following documents, submitted by the applicant, are attached to this report. 

1. Application for Zoning Action 

2. Project Narrative (“Planned Development Proposed Addition”, 6 pages, revised December 

24, 2020) 

3. Map of Existing Zoning Districts (undated) 

4. Plat of Subdivision (3 pages, dated 11/14/16) 

5. Alta/ACSM Land Title Survey (2 pages, dated 8/31/15) 

6. Traffic Planning Study (22 pages, dated January 5, 2021, by Gewalt Hamilton Associates) 

7. Proposed Elevations (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 

8. First Floor Plan (dated December 11, 2020) 

9. Second Floor Plan (dated December 11, 2020) 

10. Proposed Site Plan (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 

11. Existing Conditions Site Plan (dated December 23, 2020, by Ridgeland Associates) 

 
 

Project Description: 

 

Farmington Foods processes raw pork, beef, poultry, and vegetables for foodservice and has done 

so at this location for several decades. In 2015, a Planned Development was considered and 

approved as part of a request for an addition at that time. The applicant is requesting an amendment 

to the Planned Development granted by Ordinance No. O-35-15, to construct an addition by 

connecting two existing buildings. The addition is approximately 8,666 square feet over two floors 

(a footprint of approximately 4,333 square feet), and is to include an approximately 704 square 

foot rooftop deck area. The proposed addition is considered a “major change” to the Planned 

Development based on 9-6-8 due to an increase in coverage that exceeds 5%. 

 

Standards for Planned Development: 

1. Except as modified by the planned development, proposed improvements shall comply 

with the regulations of the underlying zoning district(s) in which it is located. 

2. The planned development should be consistent with the official planning policies and the 

comprehensive plan of the Village. 

3. The planned development should be compatible with and not diminish the economic value 

of the surrounding residential, commercial and industrial areas. 

4. Any unusual physical, topographical or historical features of the site of the planned 

development which are of importance to the people of the area or the community should 

be preserved. 

5. The site of the planned development, at the time of application, shall be under single 

ownership and/or unified control. 

6. The uses in the planned development must be of a type and so located as to exercise no 

undue detrimental influence upon surrounding properties. 

7. The planned development shall not endanger public health, welfare or safety. 
 

Findings of Fact: 



 

PC2021-01 Staff Report 

Page 4 

 

1. The proposed improvements comply with the regulations of the underlying zoning district. 
2. The proposed planned development is consistent with the comprehensive plan’s future land 

use map. 

3. The planned development is compatible with and will not diminish the economic value of 

the surrounding area. 

4. Based on the scope of the proposed addition, there are no unusual physical, topographical 

or historical features of the site of the planned development to be preserved. 

5. The site is under unified control and has been in operation for several decades. 
6. The proposed uses are consistent with current operations and will not exercise undue 

detrimental influence upon surrounding properties. 

7. The planned development will not endanger public health, welfare, or safety. 

 

Staff Review 

The applicant’s materials state that the proposed addition will not change the existing uses, 

employees, traffic patterns, and parking demands. The addition as a percent of the overall built- 

out site is approximately 5.8% and connects two existing buildings to allow for a reconfiguration 

of internal operations due to changes in packaging demand. The proposed addition complies with 

all applicable standards in the Forest Park Zoning Ordinance. The project as proposed, with 

conditions, would comply with all applicable development standards in the Forest Park Zoning 

Ordinance and meets the standards of approval for a Planned Development. Should the Plan 

Commission wish to support the request, the following sample motion is provided: 

 

Based on the submitted petition and testimony provided, I move that the Plan Commission 

recommend to the Village Council approval of the request to amend Ordinance No. O-35-15 

and to approve a preliminary and final development plan associated with PC2021-01 subject to 

the findings of fact above and the following conditions: 
 

1. The property shall be developed and operated in substantial compliance with the plans 

submitted and testimony provided by the applicant and the previous Planned 

Development conditions; 

2. All construction shall comply with the Building Code of the Village of Forest Park, with 

final plans subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer and the Director- 

Building, Planning, and Zoning; 

3. Final engineering shall be approved by the Village’s consulting engineer prior issuance 

of building permits for the exterior work. 

4. No building permits and no Certificate of Occupancy for the Subject Property shall be 

issued by the Department of Public Health and Safety to the Owner unless all debts owed 

to the Village of Forest Park by the Owner have been paid in full prior to the issuance 

of such permits or certificate. 

5. Any violation of the above conditions will result in a violation of the Municipal code of 

the Village of Forest Park and the owner may be subject to fines for each day said 

violation exists. 

6. Additional information shall be submitted, subject to review and approval by staff, 

regarding construction schedule prior to the issuance of a building permit. 



 

PC2021-01 Staff Report 

Page 5 

 

7. Hours of operation/occupancy for the roof deck shall be limited to 6:00 a.m. to 11:00 

p.m. 



 

 



{00117479.6} 1  

Planned Development 
Proposed Addition 
Farmington Foods 
November 25, 2020 

(As Revised December 24, 2020) 
 
 

I. Introduction 
 

Franklin Consolidated, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (“Franklin”), is the owner 
of the property commonly known as 7419, 7431, and 7445 Franklin Street, Forest Park, Illinois 
(“Subject Property”). Pursuant to the Village of Forest Park Zoning Regulations (Title 9 of the 
Forest Park Village Code) (“Zoning Regulations”); the December 14, 2015 Planned Unit 
Development granted by the Village for the Subject Property under Ordinance No. 0-35-15 (“PUD 
Ordinance”); and the December, 2015 Planned Unit Development Agreement (“Development 
Agreement”), Farmington Foods, Inc., an Illinois corporation (“Farmington”), operates food 
processing and related office facilities on the Subject Property (collectively, “Existing Uses”). 

 

Pursuant to Section 9-6-8 of the Zoning Regulations, the PUD Ordinance, and Section 3 
of the Development Agreement, Franklin and Farmington (collectively, “Farmington”) are pleased 
to submit this application for approval of a very limited modification to the previously approved 
development plans to allow construction of a minor addition to the existing facilities on the eastern 
portion (7419 Franklin Street) of the Subject Property (“Proposed Addition”). 

 

As set forth in greater detail in these materials, the Proposed Addition (1) fully complies 
with all applicable standards in the Zoning Regulations, the PUD Ordinance, and the Development 
Agreement; (2) will not change any of the Existing Uses on the Subject Property and will not add 
any new uses to the Subject Property; (3) will not cause any increase in employees on the Subject 
Property; and (4) will not change or intensify the traffic patterns or parking demands related to the 
Existing Uses on the Subject Property. 

 

Farmington looks forward to presenting the Proposed Addition to the Plan Commission at 
a public hearing at its February 1, 2021 regular meeting and to the Village Board for preliminary 
and final plan consideration pursuant to Section 9-6-4A of the Zoning Regulations. 

 
II. Property and Facility Status 

 

Farmington continues to process raw and fully cooked pork, beef, poultry and vegetables 
for human consumption, all as permitted by and in compliance with the PUD Ordinance, the 
Development Agreement, and the Zoning Regulations. The Proposed Addition will not add any 
new uses on the Property and Farmington will continue to comply with the PUD Ordinance, the 
Development Agreement, and the Zoning Regulations. 

 

After a full and complete public hearing and due and public consideration by the Village 
Board, on December 14, 2015, the Village Board unanimously adopted the PUD Ordinance, 
Ordinance No. 0-35-15. The PUD Ordinance authorized the Development Agreement, granted a 
conditional use permit for a planned unit development, and approved a preliminary and final plat 
of subdivision for the Subject Property and the Existing Uses conducted by Farmington on the 
Subject Property. The PUD Ordinance also approved an addition to the original building on the 
western portion of the Subject Property (“2015 Addition”). The 2015 Addition was constructed 
and completed in accordance with all of the requirements of the Village Code, the PUD Ordinance 



{00117479.6} 2  

and the Development Agreement. The PUD Ordinance specifically acknowledges that Farmington 
and its predecessors and related corporate entities have been operating a facility for food 
processing and related uses on the Subject Property for more than 40 years. Nothing about the 
Proposed Addition will change any of these facts. 

 
III. Proposed Addition and Requested Approval. 

 

In accordance with its USDA inspection and SQF Level II Certification, Farmington Foods 
currently processes raw pork, beef, poultry, and vegetables for foodservice, retail and export from 
the 7419 building. Packaging is in accordance with requirements for each product specification. 
Nothing about this will change with the construction of the Proposed Addition. 

 

The Proposed Addition will be located on the eastern portion of the Subject Property 
commonly known as 7419 Franklin Street. The Proposed Addition will be located between the 
main building to the north and the smaller one-story brick garage building to the south that fronts 
onto Franklin Street. The garage is currently used for storage and maintenance and will continue 
to be used for storage and maintenance. The roof top deck shown on the submitted plans is 
located on a portion of the existing roof and will allow outdoor space for employees to eat lunch 
and to take breaks. 

 
The Proposed Addition will have a very small footprint of approximately 4,333 square feet, 

an approximately 5.8 percent increase from the existing building area footprint on the entire 
Subject Property. The Proposed Addition will be two stories with a total height of approximately 
27’ - 1” and total square footage of approximately 8,666 square feet. 

 

Farmington’s business requires the completion of the Proposed Addition. As a result of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, there is a change in demand from supplying foodservice (restaurant) 

customers to supplying more retail (grocery store) customers. The demand from foodservice 
(restaurant) customers has decreased while the demand from retail (grocery store) customers 

has increased. This change requires different packaging to consumer size packages versus bulk 
pack and this different packaging requires different systems and machinery configuration and 

some modest additional space (investment and engineering changes). The longer production 
lines shown in the submitted plans reflect this new machinery and the additional space at the end 

of the lines allows for the necessary staging and worker spaces. Specifically, the pre-price 
weighing, labeling, tray and sleeve, and overwrap processes are all specifically related to retail 

products and not generally utilized for bulk products. The staging area allows space for staging 
of pork, beef, poultry, and ingredients and packaging materials for the production lines. The 
quality assurance area allows for space for execution of quality assurance and food safety work. 

 

While triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic, the shift will be a long term change that 
Farmington must address. Nothing, however, about the Proposed Addition or the use of the space 
in the Proposed Addition will change the nature of Farmington’s operations on the Subject Property 
as approved by the Village in 2015. The Proposed Addition has been planned so that it will not 
cause any increase employee headcount. To allow machinery reconfiguration on the first floor of 
the Proposed Addition, the sales office and its employees will be moved to the second floor of the 
Proposed Addition. Accordingly, the Proposed Addition will include an elevator to increase 
building accessibility consistent with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

 

Under the Zoning Regulations, there are two types of PUD amendments – major and 
minor. The Zoning Regulations provide a list of seven types of changes that would constitute a 
major change to a PUD. Because of the limited scope of the Proposed Addition, six out of seven 



{00117479.6} 3  

of these changes do not apply to this application. Specifically, the Proposed Addition (1) will not 
alter the use or character of the development on the Subject Property, (2) will not increase the 
intensity of use over 10 percent, (3) will not reduce any allocated open space, (4) will not cause 
any reduction in off street parking or loading, (5) will not change any applicable project designs 
set forth in the PUD Ordinance or the Development Agreement, and (6) will not require any 
variations from the Zoning Regulations. Nevertheless, the Proposed Addition constitutes a major 
change under the Zoning Regulations because the seventh type of change that constitutes a 
major change is any new construction that increases lot coverage by 5 percent. The Proposed 
Addition would increase the lot coverage by 5.8 percent, or just 627 square feet over the 5 percent 
threshold. 

 

Section 3 of the Development Agreement contains additional provisions related to whether 
adjustments to approved PUD plans are major or minor. The primary standard under Section 3 of 
the Development Agreement is that major amendments are those that will change the essential 
character of the PUD authorized by the approved plans. The Proposed Addition will in no way 
change the essential character of the Existing Uses on the Subject Property. Nevertheless, 
because the Proposed Additional is 627 square feet over the 5 percent threshold, Farmington is 
submitting these materials for the required public hearing and Village Board consideration to 
approve the Proposed Addition. 

 
IV. Standards. 

 

The Planned Development standards related to approval of the Proposed Addition are set 
forth in Section 9-6-2 of the Village Zoning Regulations. The Proposed Addition satisfies each and 
every one of these standards as set forth below: 

 

 The Proposed Addition complies with the regulations governing the Subject Property, 
including specifically the regulations of the underlying I-1 zoning district as modified by the 
PUD Ordinance approved in 2015. The Proposed Addition requires no variations or zoning 
relief other than approval of the changes to the approved plans to incorporate the 
Proposed Addition.  Section 9-6-2A1.

 The Proposed Addition is consistent with the official planning policies and the 
comprehensive plan of the Village. Section 2 of the PUD Ordinance specifically found that 
the planned development granted in 2015 was consistent with the Village’s 
comprehensive plan and nothing about the Proposed Addition changes the nature or 
scope of the planned development.  Section 9-6-2A2.

 The Proposed Addition is compatible with and will in no way diminish the economic value 
of the surrounding residential, commercial, and industrial areas. The Proposed Addition 
adds no new uses to the Subject Property and does not change any existing uses on the 
Subject Property, which uses have existed on the Subject Property for more than 40 years, 
as found by the Village in the 2015 PUD Ordinance. Section 9-6-2A3.

 The Proposed Addition will in no way interfere with or impact the Village’s continued use 
of the Village water tower located at the north end of the Subject Property. The Proposed 
Addition will not impact any unusual physical, topographical or historical features related 
to the Subject Property.  Section 9-6-2A4.

 The Subject Property is under single ownership and control by Franklin Consolidated, LLC, 
an Illinois limited liability company. Section 9-6-2A5.

 The 2015 PUD Ordinance correctly determined that the approved planned unit 
development would have no detrimental influence on surrounding properties.   There   is



{00117479.6} 4  

nothing about the Proposed Addition that will be detrimental to surrounding properties in 
any way. Section 9-6-2A6. 

 The Proposed Addition will in no way endanger public health, welfare or safety. 
Farmington operations on the Subject Property will continue to comply completely with all 
applicable local, state, and federal rules and regulations. Section 9-6-2A7.

 The Proposed Addition does not require any exceptions under the Village Zoning 
Regulations. The use of the Proposed Addition will be entirely consistent with the uses 
that have existed on the Subject Property for over 40 years and that were specifically 
approved by the Village pursuant to the 2015 PUD Ordinance. The Proposed Addition will 
not involve or expand in any way the limitation on cooking of animal products as set forth 
in the 2015 PUD Ordinance. The Proposed Addition will likewise alter nothing on the 
Subject Property that would cause any change to the Village’s previous findings that the 
Existing Uses on the Subject Property are compatible with surrounding uses, will minimize 
impacts on surrounding properties, and will not endanger public health, welfare, or safety. 
Section 9-6-2B.

 The Proposed Addition will not be utilized for any use that is not allowed in the underlying 
I-1 zoning district and the request for approval of the Proposed Addition does not require 
any special use exceptions or approvals under the Village Zoning Regulations. Section 9- 
6-2B.

 The Proposed Addition will be located on the Subject Property, which is approximately 4.4 
acres and thus far exceeds the one-half acre planned development minimum lot size 
requirement.  Section 9-6-2C.

 The Zoning Regulations set a maximum lot coverage of 85 percent for planned 
developments. The Proposed Addition will add just 4,333 square feet of lot coverage. With 
the Proposed Addition, the total lot coverage on the Subject Property will still be less than 
half of the required maximum, or approximately 41 percent, and thus will continue to easily 
comply with the maximum lot coverage requirements for planned developments, without 
any request or need for any lot coverage bonus areas.  Section 9-6-2D.

 The I-1 District allows six stories or 75’ maximum height restriction. The 2015 approved 
PUD included a maximum building height of 21 feet, 3 inches. The Proposed Addition will 
be approximately 21 feet, 1 inch and thus will comply with both the I-1 District regulations 
and the 2015 PUD Ordinance. Section 9-6-2F.

 The Proposed Addition will not change the setbacks of the existing buildings from the front 
lot line. Further, the Proposed Addition provides a setback from the rear property line in 
excess of that provided on any adjoining property. Section 9-6-2G.

 Planned development off-street parking requirements are governed by the applicable 
regulations set forth in Chapter 8 of the Zoning Regulations. Industrial uses under Chapter 
8 require one parking space for every two employees. The 2015 PUD Ordinance provided 
that 87 parking spaces were required and 116 parking spaces, including 5 accessible 
spaces, were being provided. The PUD Ordinance also stated that there were ample 
loading spaces on the Subject Property (15 total). The Proposed Addition will not cause 
any new employees to be hired so the off-street parking requirements remain unchanged 
from the 2015 PUD Ordinance. The Applicant has never had any issues with the property 
providing parking for its employees. Thus, the Proposed Addition complies with the 
applicable off-street parking requirements for the Subject Property. Section 9-6-2H.

 The Proposed Addition will be located between two existing buildings on the Subject 
Property. The Proposed Addition will not necessitate additional landscaping and will not 
interfere with any of the landscaping installed, provided, or required in accordance with 
the 2015 PUD Ordinance. Section 9-6-2I.



{00117479.6} 5  

 The Proposed Addition will comply with all applicable provisions of the Village sign 
regulations. Section 9-6-2J.

 The Proposed Addition does not require any additional subdivision approvals for the 
Subject Property. Section 9-6-2K.

 The Director of Public Health and Safety has determined that a fiscal impact study, a 
school impact study, and a market study are not required as part of the application for 
approval of the Proposed Addition.  Section 9-6-2L.

 Farmington has provided a traffic and parking report prepared by Gewalt Hamilton that 
explains that the Proposed Addition will not change the traffic patterns or parking demands 
related to the Existing Uses on the Subject Property. Gewalt Hamilton is a well-known and 
highly respected multi-disciplinary engineering and surveying firm with particular expertise 
in traffic and parking design and evaluation.

 The development pattern in the area surrounding the Subject Property is well established 
as set forth in the 2015 PUD Ordinance. The Proposed Addition will in no way impede the 
normal and orderly development and improvement of surrounding property for uses 
permitted in the applicable zoning districts.

 The Subject Property is already served by adequate utilities, access roads, and drainage 
facilities.

 

V. Submittals. 
 

Following our October 29, 2020 preapplication meeting and the Village’s December 21, 
2020 request for additional information, Farmington has prepared and now submits the following 
materials in support of its request for approval of the Proposed Addition and in compliance with 
Section 9-6-4B of the Village Zoning Regulations: 

 

 Exhibit A – Legal Description of the Subject Property

 Exhibit B – Current ALTA Plat of Survey of the Subject Property (Ridgeline 
Associates, Inc.; 2 pages; dated 11/14/2016)

 Exhibit C – Current Plat of Subdivision of the Subject Property (Ridgeline 
Associates, Inc.; 17 pages; dated 11/13/2015; recorded on 1/25/2016 as 
Document No. 1902544024)

 Exhibit D – 2015 PUD Ordinance and Development Agreement

 Exhibit E – Village Certificate of Final Inspection and Occupancy, and Zoning 
Compliance (9/26/2016)

 Exhibit F – Proposed Addition Elevations Plan (Ridgeland Associates, Inc.; one 
page; dated 12/23/2020)

 Exhibit G – Proposed Addition Floor Plans (Ridgeland Associates, Inc.; three 
pages)

 Exhibit H – Existing Conditions Site Plan (Ridgeland Associates, Inc.; one page; 
dated 12/23/2020)

 Exhibit I – Photos of Existing Conditions (4 pages)

 Exhibit J – Site Plan (Ridgeland Associates, Inc.; one page; dated 12/23/2020)

 Exhibit K – Zoning Map

 Exhibit L – Application for Zoning Action (including $450 Application Fee)

 Exhibit M – Cost Recovery Agreement (fully executed)

 Exhibit N -- Affidavit of surrounding properties & mailing list (fully executed version 
of which to be provided upon service of notice of February 1 public hearing)

 Exhibit O – Notice of public hearing



{00117479.6} 6  

 Exhibit P – Gewalt Hamilton Report (dated December 24, 2020) 

Farmington’s development team for the Proposed Addition is as follows:

 Albert A. La Valle, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer, Farmington 
Foods, Inc.

 
 Zenon Kurdziel, President, Ridgeland Associates, Inc. -- Engineering and 

Architectural Services
 

 Peter Friedman, Elrod Friedman LLP – Legal and Zoning Entitlement Counsel

 
 William C. Grieve, P.E., PTOE, Senior Transportation Engineer, Gewalt Hamilton 

Associates, Inc. – Traffic and Parking Engineer
 

Thank you for your consideration of the Proposed Addition as described in this submittal. 
We look forward to presenting this opportunity to you at the February 1, 2021 Plan Commission 
public hearing and then to the Village Board for preliminary and final approval. 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 

 
Proposed Taco Bell 

161 S. Harlem Avenue 
Forest Park, I 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Traffic Planning Study 

To: Peter M. Friedman 
Elrod Friedman, LLP 

 
From: Bill Grieve, P.E., PTOE 

Senior Transportation Engineer 
 

Justin Opitz, AICP 
Transportation Planner 

 
Date: December 24, 2020 

Updated January 5, 2021 
 

Subject: Farmington Foods 
7419 Franklin Street 
Forest Park, Illinois 

 
 

Part I.  Project Context and Summary Statement 

Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc. (GHA) has conducted a traffic planning study for the above captioned project 
located at 7419 Franklin Street, just southwest of the Harlem/Lake CTA Green Line Stop in Forest Park, Illinois. 
The site has been occupied by Farmington Foods since 1972, which is a food processing business. There are 
three buildings located on 4.376 acres of property. The site has access provided off Franklin Street in three 
locations. The westmost access drive is for employees and trucks only. 

 
As proposed, Farmington Foods will add on to its existing footprint to accommodate engineering changes to its 
production lines. There are currently three buildings on site and the proposed addition will be located between 
the main building to the north and the smaller one-story brick garage building to the south that fronts onto Franklin 
Street. The proposed addition will have a small footprint of approximately 4,400 square feet and will not cause 
an increase in employee headcount. Access to the site will remain the same and will still be located off of Franklin 
Street. Most employees and all trucks will continue to utilize the westmost access drive. 

 
The following summarizes our findings for your consideration. Exhibits and Appendices referenced are centrally 
located at the end of this document. 

 

Part II.  Background Information 

Site Location Map, Existing Traffic Operations, and Roadway Inventory 
 

Exhibit 1 provides a site location map, Exhibit 2A illustrates the existing traffic operations, while Exhibits 2B 
and 2C depict the existing parking operations on adjacent streets and on-site, respectively. Appendix A provides 
a photo inventory of the site vicinity. Pertinent comments regarding land-uses in the site vicinity and transportation 
components, both vehicular and non-auto mobility include: 

 

 



Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc. 
2 

 

Farmington Foods 
7419 Franklin Street 

Forest Park, IL 
 

Area Land Uses 
 The site currently contains three buildings on 4.376 acres and is a food processing business. It is also 

bordered to the north by the CTA Green Line and Metra UP-W railroad tracks.

 Harlem Avenue (IL 43) corridor, which is located just east, consists of a mix of commercial and residential 
uses.

 A lumber sales business is located directly west/north.

 Multifamily and single-family residential border the site to the west, south, and east.
 

Roadway Inventory 
Franklin Street 

 Franklin Street is an east/west local street that has a posted speed limit of 25 mph.

 Franklin Street provides an urban cross-section with one travel lane in each direction.

 At its unsignalized intersection with Circle Avenue/Belvidere Avenue and Des Plaines Avenue/Brown 
Avenue, Franklin Street provides a single shared turn/through lane for all possible movements.

 Two hour free street parking is provided on both sides of the street in the site vicinity.
 

Circle Avenue 

 Circle Avenue is a northeast/southwest local street that has a posted speed limit of 25 mph in the site 
vicinity.

 Circle Avenue provides an urban cross-section with one travel lane in each direction.

 At its unsignalized intersection with Franklin Street/Belvidere Avenue, Circle Avenue provides a single 
shared turn/through lane for all possible movements.

 Two hour free street parking is provided on both sides of the street south of Franklin Street. However, 
north of Franklin Street, Circle Avenue provides paid parking ($1 per hour) between 6 AM – 8 PM on 
both sides of the street.

 
Belvidere Avenue 

 Belvidere Avenue is a north/south local street that has a posted speed limit of 25 mph.

 Belvidere Avenue provides an urban cross-section with one travel lane in each direction.

 At its unsignalized intersection with Circle Avenue/Franklin Street, Belvidere Avenue provides a single 
shared turn/through lane for all possible movements.

 Two hour free street parking is provided on both sides of the street in the site vicinity.
 

Des Plaines Avenue 
 Des Plaines Avenue is a north/south local street that has a posted speed limit of 25 mph in the site 

vicinity.

 Des Plaines Avenue provides an urban cross-section with one travel lane in each direction.

 At its unsignalized intersection with Franklin Street/Brown Avenue, Des Plaines Avenue provides a single 
shared turn/through lane for all possible movements.

 Two hour free street parking is provided on both sides of the street.
 

Brown Avenue 

 Brown Avenue is a northwest/southeast local street that has a posted speed limit of 25 mph in the site 
vicinity.



Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc. 
3 

 

Farmington Foods 
7419 Franklin Street 

Forest Park, IL 

 Brown Avenue provides an urban cross-section with one travel lane in each direction northwest of 
Franklin Street. However, southeast of Franklin Street, Brown Avenue provides one-way operations 
northwest bound. 

 At its unsignalized intersection with Franklin Street/Des Plaines Avenue, Brown Avenue provides a single 
shared turn/through lane for all possible movements. 

 Two hour free street parking is provided on both sides of the street. 
 

Public Transportation / Pedestrian Mobility 

 Pace operates bus route 307 (Harlem) and 318 (West North Avenue) along Harlem Avenue just east of 
the site. 

 Sidewalks are provided along both sides of the roadway for all roadways within the study area. 

 Pedestrian crosswalks are provided on all approaches of all intersections. 

 The site is located within close proximity to the CTA Green Line Harlem/Lake stop and UP-W Metra Oak 
Park station. 

 

Incident Analysis 
 

Observing the most recent available incident history can determine if any roadway improvements are needed to 
improve safety along the surrounding roadways. Data from 2014-2018 was obtained from the IDOT Bureau of 
Data Collection for Franklin Street within the site vicinity. Appendix B provides a map showing all incidents in 
the study area during the 5-year period. Table 1 below summarizes the 5-year (2014-2018) history within the site 
vicinity. 

 
Table 1: Incident Summary (2014-2018) A 

 

 
Location / Year 

 

No. of 
Incidents 

Severity B Type D Percent 
During 
Wet/Icy 

Conditions 

 

PD 
PI C 

 

F 
 

CM 
 

RE 
 

HO 
 

FO 
 

Ped Bike 
A B C 

Segment 

Along Franklin St between Des 
Plaines Ave & Circle Ave 

7 7 - - - - 1 1 - 5 - - 14% 

Total (2014-18) 7 7 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 5 0 0 14% 
A Source: IDOT Division of Transportation Safety for the 2014-2018 calendar years. 

B PD = property damage only; PI = personal injury; F = fatality. 

C Type A (incapacitating injury); Type B (non-incapacitating injury); Type C (possible injury). 

D CM = cross movement/angle; RE = rear end; HO = head on; FO = fixed object; Ped = pedestrian. 

 
As can be seen, only 7 incidents occurred along Franklin Street between Des Plaines Avenue and Circle Avenue 
during the 5-year study period. The most prominent incident pattern was fixed-object occurrences, which 
accounted for 71% (5 out of 7) of all incidents. None of the incidents involved injuries and they all involved property 
damage of some sort. Additionally, no pedestrian or bicycle incidents occurred in the site vicinity. 



Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc. 
4 

 

 
 
 

Part III.  Project Traffic Characteristics 

Farmington Foods Operations 

Farmington Foods 
7419 Franklin Street 

Forest Park, IL 

 

Farmington Foods operates 7 days a week – 24 hours a day, with shifts being the busiest during the day. Due  to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, product mix and packaging requirements have changed. Institutions and restaurants are 
now experiencing less demand, while more retail grocery stores are experiencing higher demand. This shift in 
retail sales mix requires different packaging. 

 
As such, Farmington Foods is proposing to add on to its existing building footprint and is shifting operations 
internally within the buildings to accommodate these changes. There are currently three buildings on site and the 
proposed addition will be located between the main building to the north and the smaller one-story brick garage 
building to the south that fronts onto Franklin Street. The proposed addition includes an elevator, to increase 
building accessibility consistent with the Americans with Disabilities Act, in light of the relocation of the sales 
offices and its employees to the second-floor office space. Additionally, the proposed addition also addresses the 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, so that the space can be utilized without increasing employee head count. The 
proposed addition is two stories and is expected to result in an increase in the properties footprint in the amount of 
approximately 4,400 square feet. 

 
Again, it is important to note that the addition will cause no new employees to be added, which means no new 
vehicle trips are anticipated to be generated. Access to the site will remain the same and still be located off of 
Franklin Street. Most employees and all trucks will continue to utilize the westmost access drive. 

 
Traffic Operations 

 
GHA conducted weekday morning (6 AM – 9 AM) and evening (3 PM – 6 PM) peak period truck traffic counts 
on Tuesday, December 29, 2020 at the Franklin Street intersections with Farmington Foods west and middle 
access drives. Appendix C contains the truck traffic count summary sheets. 

 
No unusual activity (e.g., road construction, severe weather, or extensive emergency vehicle activity) occurred 
during the counts that would have impacted the traffic volumes or travel patterns. It should be noted that snow 
began falling around 5PM on the day of the count, however, it was observed that there was not enough 
accumulation to impact the count. Exhibits 3A and 3B illustrate the existing Weekday morning and evening peak 
period truck traffic volumes from 6-7 AM, 7-8 AM, 8-9 AM and 3-4 PM, 4-5PM, 5-6PM. 

 
As previously stated, the proposed 2-story building addition of approximately 4,400 square feet footprint will not 
increase the employee headcount at Farmington Foods, and thus the building addition will not generate more 
vehicular traffic than is currently operating into/out of the site. 



Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc. 
5 

 

 
 
 

Table 2: Truck Trip Analysis 

Farmington Foods 
7419 Franklin Street 

Forest Park, IL 

 

Land Use Time Period Total Truck Trips 

 
AM Peaks (6AM-7AM) 4 

 
AM Peaks (7AM-8AM) 8 

 
AM Peaks (8AM-9AM) 7 

Farmington Foods   
 
   PM Peaks (3PM-4PM) 12 

 
PM Peaks (4PM-5PM) 9 

 
PM Peaks (5PM-6PM) 2 

Totals (All Time Periods) 42 

Source:   GHA December 2020 

Note:   Truck trips not related to Farmington Foods operations not  represented 

 

Table 2 depicted above illustrates the total number of one-way truck trips travelling through both access drive 
intersections during the peak periods (6AM-9AM and 3PM-6PM). As can be seen, 19 truck movements occurred 
during the AM peak periods, which is about 6 truck movements per hour. Additionally, 23 truck movements 
occurred during the PM peak periods, which is roughly 7-8 truck movements per hour. 

 
Additionally, according to Farmington Foods, the site experienced: 

 52 total truck movements on Friday, December 19, 2020

 64 total truck movements on Monday, December 21, 2020

 68 total truck movements on Tuesday, December 29, 2020
Taking the average amongst the three above-mentioned dates results in 61 daily one-way truck movements. 
Referring back to Table 2, 42 of those truck movements, or approximately 69%, occurred during the peak periods 
(6AM-9AM and 3PM-6PM). 

 
The daily and thus weekly average truck volumes are not expected to change as a result of the building addition. 
The small building addition will likewise not cause a change to the current truck schedules with the busier days 
tending to be Fridays and Mondays. According to Farmington Foods, there have been no truck citations or issues 
concerning truck traffic along Franklin Street since 2015. 

 
Additionally, the small building addition will not increase the number of loading bays on the site, in fact, the small 
building addition will eliminate an existing loading bay and decrease the total number of loading bays by one. 

 
It should be noted that there are two truck loading bays located off of Circle Avenue just north of Franklin Street 
in the far east corner of the site. These two loading bays are utilized for packaging materials and generally have 
parked trailers that contain the packaging materials. As the materials are depleted, the trailers are replaced, and 
this occurs just a few times a week. Additionally, there are recycling and compactor containers located at the 
southeastern portion of the site and these are emptied once or twice a week depending on supply/demand. 



Gewalt Hamilton Associates, Inc. 
6 

 

 
 

 
Parking Operations 

Farmington Foods 
7419 Franklin Street 

Forest Park, IL 

 

Farmington Foods provides adequate parking for all employees on-site, therefore employees generally do not 
utilize or impact adjacent on-street parking operations. Exhibit 2B depicts the on-street parking operations on 
adjacent streets within the site vicinity, while Exhibit 2C depicts the current on-site parking operations. Due to 
the small building addition only altering production lines and not increasing the employee headcount, no changes 
to parking operations are needed to accommodate the addition. For this property, the Village Code requires one 
parking space for every two employees. There are currently 127 parking spaces, which would accommodate 254 
employees. This amount of parking exceeds the amount necessary to accommodate the 165 employees. 

 
Furthermore, during GHA’s site observations, no employees were observed to be parking along the south side 
of Franklin Street. Per the previously agreed to planned development agreement, Farmington Foods employees 
are not allowed to park along the south side of Franklin Street. It is of note that it is generally not feasible for 
Farmington Foods employees to park along the south side of Franklin Street as there is a two hour limit on these 
spaces and an employee’s shift lasts longer than two hours. 

 

Part IV. Conclusion 

Based on the site characteristics and the above traffic impact discussion data, the site impacts on area operations 
of the proposed addition will be negligible. No road / intersection improvements are required to accommodate the 
proposed addition at the Farmington Foods property. The building addition is necessary for certain engineering 
line changes related to packaging requirements as described further in the zoning package submittal. The 
proposed addition will not necessitate or cause any increase in employees on the site, nor will the proposed 
addition cause or necessitate any increase in truck trips generated. 

 
Part V.  Technical Addendum 

The following Exhibits and Appendices were previously referenced. They provide technical support for our 
observations, findings, and recommendations discussed in the text. 

 
Exhibits 

1. Site Location Map 
2A. Existing Traffic Operations 
2B. Existing Parking Operations (on-street) 
2C. Existing Parking Operations (on-site) 
3A. Existing Truck Traffic – AM Peak Periods 
3B. Existing Truck Traffic – PM Peak Periods 

Appendices 
A. Photo Inventory 
B. IDOT Incident Map 
C. Existing Truck Traffic Count Sheets 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

EXHIBITS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Farmington Foods 

7419 Franklin Street – Forest Park, IL 



 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Not to Scale 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Not to Scale 



 

 
Exhibit 2C - Existing Parking Operations (on-site) 

PARKING COUNT 

 

RIDGELAND 
ASSOCIATES 
INC. 
ARCHITECTS 
DESIGNERS 
PLANNERS 

1 Riverside Rd. 

Riverside 
Illinois 60546 
708.435.0300 
708.435.0305 fax 
www.ridgelandassociates.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20 

 

18 

 
 
 

13 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

11 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Revisions 

 

 

 
 

 

Drawing Date 
 

 
Project Number 

 
12/23/20 

20112 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0   4'  8'      16' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
32' 48' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0 32" 64"  10'-8" 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
21'-4" 32' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0   2'  4'       8' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
16' 24'      0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
3'       6' 12' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
18' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0   1'  2'       4' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
8' 12' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0   6"  1'       2' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
4' 6' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0   4"  8"     16" 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
32" 4' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0   3"  6"      1' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2' 3' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0   2"  4"      8" 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
16" 2' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0   1"  2"      4" 

 

 

 

NORTH 

 

 

 
 

8" 1' 

LINEAR GRAPHIC BAR SCALES 

 

This  document  is  an  instrument  of  service  and  is 

the   sole   property   of   Ridgeland   Associates,   Inc. I 

t m a y n o t b e c o p i e d , r e p r o d u c e d , a l t e r e d or    

reused   in   whole   or   in   part   on   any   other p r o j 

e c t w i t h o u t e x p r e s s e d w r i t t e n c o n s e n t f r o m    

R i d g e l a n d    A s s o c i a t e s ,         I n c . 

 
 

Sheet Name 

 

FARMINGTON FOODS 

EXISTING 
CONDITIONS SITE 

PLAN 

Shee

A
t Number  

S1.0
 

U
S

D
A

 

G
U

ES
T 

G
U

ES
T 

G
U

ES
T 

G
U

ES
T 

R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

 

R
E

S
E

R
V

E
D

 

F
A

R
M

IN
G

TO
N

 F
O

O
D

S
 

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S

 S
IT

E
 P

LA
N

 

7
4
1
9

 W
. 

F
ra

n
k
lin

 S
tr

e
e

t,
 F

o
re

st
 P

a
rk

, 
Ill

in
o

is
 6

0
1
3
0

 

http://www.ridgelandassociates.com/


 

1/16" = 1'-0" 3/32" = 1'-0" 1/8" = 1'-0" 3/16" = 1'-0" 1/4" = 1'-0" 1/2" = 1'-0" 3/4" = 1'-0" 1" = 1'-0" 1 1/2" = 1'-0" 3" = 1'-0" 2020 Ridgeland Associates, Inc. 

 
Recyclable 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Not to Scale 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Not to Scale 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
Photo Inventory 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Farmington Foods 
7419 Franklin Street – Forest Park, IL 



Appendix A 
Photo Inventory 

Page 1 | 3 

 

  
 

Looking east along Franklin St at Circle Ave/Belvidere Ave Looking north along Circle Ave at Franklin St 
 

 

Looking north along Belvidere Ave at Franklin St/Circle Ave Looking south along Circle Ave at Franklin St/Belvidere Ave 



Appendix A 
Photo Inventory 

Page 2 | 3 

 

  
 

Looking north across Franklin St at eastmost Access Drive Looking north across Franklin St at middle Access Drive 
 

 

Looking north across Franklin St at westmost Access Drive Looking west along Franklin St at Des Plaines Ave/Brown Ave 



Appendix A 
Photo Inventory 

Page 3 | 3 

 

  
 

Looking south along Brown Ave at Franklin St/Des Plaines Ave Looking east along Franklin St at Des Plaines Ave/Brown Ave 
 

 

Looking north along Des Plaines Ave at Franklin St/Brown Ave Looking north along Brown Ave at Franklin St/Des Plaines Ave 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

APPENDIX B 
IDOT Incident Map 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Farmington Foods 
7419 Franklin Street – Forest Park, IL 



 

 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

APPENDIX C 
Traffic Count Summary Sheets 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Farmington Foods 
7419 Franklin Street – Forest Park, IL 



2020-12-29 16:00:00 

2020-12-29 16:15:00 

2020-12-29 16:30:00 

2020-12-29 16:45:00 

2020-12-29 17:00:00 

2020-12-29 17:15:00 

2020-12-29 17:30:00 

2020-12-29 17:45:00 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

0 

0 

1 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

0 

1 

1 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

2 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

 

Study Name 1 - Franklin St & West Access Drive (Truck Traffic) 

Project 

Project Code 

Legs and Movements All Processed Legs & Movements 

Bin Size 15 minutes 

Time Zone America/Chicago 

Start Time 

End Time 

2020-12-29 06:00:00 

2020-12-29 18:00:00 

Location 1 - Franklin St & West Access Drive 

Latitude and Longitude 41.88534,-87.810994 

 
Leg 

Direction 

Start Time 

Franklin 

Eastbound 

Left 

 
 
Thru 

  
 
U-Turn 

Franklin 

Westbound 

Thru 

 
 
Right 

 
 

U-Turn 

 West Access 

Southbound 

Left 

 
 

Right 

 
 

U-Turn 

 

 2020-12-29 06:00:00 0  0 0 0  0 0  0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 06:15:00 0  0 0 0  0 0  0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 06:30:00 2  0 0 0  0 0  0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 06:45:00 0  0 0 0  1 0  0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 07:00:00 0  0 0 0  0 0  0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 07:15:00 0  0 0 0  1 0  0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 07:30:00 0  1 0 0  0 0  0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 07:45:00 0  0 0 0  2 0  1 0 0 

 2020-12-29 08:00:00 1  0 0 0  0 0  0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 08:15:00 0  0 0 0  0 0  1 0 0 

 2020-12-29 08:30:00 1  0 0 0  0 0  0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 08:45:00 0  0 0 0  0 0  1 1 0 

 2020-12-29 15:00:00 2  0 0 0  1 0  0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 15:15:00 1  0 0 0  0 0  1 0 0 

 2020-12-29 15:30:00 0  0 0 0  2 0  0 0 0 



2020-12-29 16:00:00 

2020-12-29 16:15:00 

2020-12-29 16:30:00 

2020-12-29 16:45:00 

2020-12-29 17:00:00 

2020-12-29 17:15:00 

2020-12-29 17:30:00 

2020-12-29 17:45:00 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

0 

0 

1 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

0 

1 

1 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

2 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

 

 2020-12-29 15:45:00 0  0 0 0  0 0  0 1 0 



2020-12-29 16:00:00 

2020-12-29 16:15:00 

2020-12-29 16:30:00 

2020-12-29 16:45:00 

2020-12-29 17:00:00 

2020-12-29 17:15:00 

2020-12-29 17:30:00 

2020-12-29 17:45:00 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

0 

1 

1 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

 

Study Name 2 - Franklin St & Middle Access Drive (Truck Traffic) 

Project 

Project Code 

Legs and Movements All Processed Legs & Movements 

Bin Size 15 minutes 

Time Zone America/Chicago 

Start Time 

End Time 

2020-12-29 06:00:00 

2020-12-29 18:00:00 

Location 2 - Franklin St & Middle Access Drive 

Latitude and Longitude 41.885377,-87.810052 

 
Leg 

Direction 

Start Time 

Franklin 

Eastbound 

Left 

 
 
Thru 

  
 
U-Turn 

Franklin 

Westbound 

Thru 

 
 
Right 

 
 

U-Turn 

 Middle Access 

Southbound 

Left 

 
 
Right 

 
 
U-Turn 

 2020-12-29 06:00:00 0  0 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 06:15:00 0  0 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 06:30:00 0  0 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 06:45:00 0  0 0 1  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 07:00:00 0  0 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 07:15:00 0  0 0 1  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 07:30:00 0  0 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 07:45:00 0  2 0 1  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 08:00:00 0  0 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 08:15:00 0  1 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 08:30:00 0  0 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 08:45:00 0  1 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 15:00:00 0  0 0 1  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 15:15:00 0  1 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 

 2020-12-29 15:30:00 0  0 0 2  0 0 0 0 0 



2020-12-29 16:00:00 

2020-12-29 16:15:00 

2020-12-29 16:30:00 

2020-12-29 16:45:00 

2020-12-29 17:00:00 

2020-12-29 17:15:00 

2020-12-29 17:30:00 

2020-12-29 17:45:00 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

1 

0 

1 

1 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

0 

 

 2020-12-29 15:45:00 0  0 0 0  0 0 0 0 0 



 

NO CHANGE 

EXIST TWO-STORY BUILDING TO 

REMAIN. 

 

 
 

EXIST ONE-STORY GARAGE. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

5' 0 5' 10' 20' 30' 

EXISTING - WEST ELEVATION 

 

 
 
 

EXIST TWO-STORY BUILDING TO 

REMAIN, 

NEW ADDITION 

(47'-1") 

 
 

NEW ADDITION 

EXISTING ONE-STORY GARAGE. 

 

 

 
 

EXISTING LIGHT 

FIXTURE TO REMAIN 

 

 

 

 

 
 

5' 0 5' 10' 20' 30' 

PROPOSED  ADDITION - WEST  ELEVATION 
PROPOSED UNDER CANOPY RECESSED 

DOWN LIGHTS TO ILLUMINATE EGRESS 

PATH (NOT VISIBLE FRONT THIS VIEW) 

 

 

 
 

EXIST TWO-STORY BUILDING TO 

REMAIN. 

EXIST TWO-STORY BUILDING TO 

REMAIN. 

 

 
EXIST SINGLE STORY GARAGE 

STRUCTURE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

5' 0 5' 10' 20' 30' 

EXISTING - SOUTH ELEVATION 

 
 

 
 

NEW ADDITION 

(137'-7 3/4") 

EXIST TWO-STORY BUILDING TO 

REMAIN. 

 

 
EXIST SINGLE STORY GARAGE 

STRUCTURE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

5' 0 5' 10'

 20' 30' 



 

PROPOSED UNDER CANOPY RECESSED DOWN LIGHTS TO ILLUMINATE EGRESS PATH (NOT VISIBLE FRONT THIS VIEW) 

PROPOSED   ADDITION - SOUTH ELEVATION 
 

RAI  #20064 REVISED 12/23/2020 

 

RIDGELAND ASSOCIATES 

INC. 

1 Riverside Road 

Riverside Illinois 60546 

 

708.435.0300 

708.435.0305 fax 

www.ridgelandassociates.com 

http://www.ridgelandassociates.com/


 

 



 

 



Recyclable 

 

PARKING COUNT 
 

 

 

RIDGELAND 
ASSOCIATES 
INC. 
ARCHITECTS 
DESIGNERS 
PLANNERS 

1 Riverside Rd. 

Riverside 

Illinois 60546 

708.435.0300 

708.435.0305 fax 
www.ridgelandassociates.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

20 

 

18 

 

 

 
 
 

13 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

11 

 
 

PROPOSED 

2-STORY MASONRY 

ADDITION 

AREA = 4,330 SF 

FOOT PRINT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Revisions 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Drawing Date 

 
 

Project Number 

 
 

20064 

 
 

PROPOSED ADDITION 

 

 

 

 
NORTH 

 

 
This document is an instrument of service and  is  the   

sole   property   of   Ridgeland   Associates,   Inc. I t m 

a y n o t b e c o p i e d , r e p r o d u c e d , a l t e r e d or    

reused  in   whole  or   in   part  on   any  other  p r o j 

e c t w i t h o u t e x p r e s s e d  w r i t t e n  c o n s e n t f r o m    

R i d g e l a n d    A s s o c i a t e s ,          I n c . 

 

 
Sheet Name 

      SITE PLAN    
     1" = 20'-0"  AS2.0       

PROPSED ADDITION 
SITE PLAN 

U
S
D

A
 

G
U

E
S
T 

G
U

E
S
T 

G
U

E
S
T 

G
U

E
S
T 

R
E
S
E
R

V
E
D

 

R
E
S
E
R

V
E
D

 

FA
R

M
IN

G
TO

N
 F

O
O

D
S
 

P
R

O
P

O
S
E
D

 T
W

O
-S

TO
R

Y
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N
 A

N
D

 I
N

TE
R

IO
R

 
R

E
M

O
S
E
LI

N
G

 

7
4
1

9
 W

. 
F
ra

n
k
lin

 S
tr

e
e

t,
 F

o
re

st
 P

a
rk

, 
Ill

in
o

is
 6

0
1
3

 

http://www.ridgelandassociates.com/


Recyclable 

 

 
0  4'  8' 16' 

 
32' 48' 

 
0 32" 64"  10'-8" 

 
21'-4" 32' 

 
0  2'  4' 8' 

 
16' 24' 

 
0 3' 

 
6' 12' 

 
18' 

 
0  1'  2' 4' 

 
8' 12' 

 
0  9" 18" 3' 

 
6' 9' 

 
0  6"  1' 2' 

 
4' 6' 

 
0   4"  8"     16" 

 
32" 4' 

 
0  3"  6" 1' 

 
2' 3' 

 
0  2"  4" 8" 

 
16" 2' 

 
0  1"  2" 4" 

 
8" 1' 

 
 

LINEAR GRAPHIC BAR SCALES 
Shee

A
t Number  

S2.0
 

1/16" = 1'-0" 3/32" = 1'-0" 1/8" = 1'-0" 3/16" = 1'-0" 1/4" = 1'-0" 3/8" = 1'-0" 1/2" = 1'-0" 3/4" = 1'-0" 1" = 1'-0" 1 1/2" = 1'-0" 3" = 1'-0" 2020 Ridgeland Associates, Inc. 



Recyclable 

 

AS1.0 

PARKING COUNT 
 

 

 

 

 
RIDGELAND 
ASSOCIATES 
INC. 
ARCHITECTS 
DESIGNERS 
PLANNERS 

1 Riverside Rd. 

Riverside 

Illinois 60546 

708.435.0300 

708.435.0305 fax 
www.ridgelandassociates.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

20 

 

18 

 

 

 

 
13 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Revisions 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Drawing Date 

 

Project Number 

 
12/23/20 

20112 

 

 

 

NORTH 

 
This document is an instrument of service  and  is  the   

sole   property  of   Ridgeland   Associates,  Inc. I t m 

a y n o t b e c o p i e d , r e p r o d u c e d , a l t e r e d or    

reused  in   whole  or   in   part  on   any  other  p r o j 

e c t  w i t h o u t  e x p r e s s e d  w r i t t e n  c o n s e n t f r o m    

R i d g e l a n d    A s s o c i a t e s ,          I n c . 

 

 
Sheet Name 

 

FARMINGTON FOODS 
EXISTING CONDITIONS 

SITE PLAN 
Sheet Number 

 

 

 
 

2020 Ridgeland Associates, Inc. 

U
S
D

A
 

G
U

E
S
T 

G
U

E
S
T 

G
U

E
S
T 

G
U

E
S
T 

R
E
S
E
R

V
E
D

 

R
E
S
E
R

V
E
D

 

F
A

R
M

IN
G

TO
N

 F
O

O
D

S
 

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S
 S

IT
E
 P

LA
N

 

7
4

1
9

 W
. 

Fr
a

n
k
lin

 S
tr

e
e

t,
 F

o
re

st
 P

a
rk

, 
Ill

in
o

is
 6

0
1
3

0
 

http://www.ridgelandassociates.com/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9 10 11 12 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

PROPOSEDDECK  

  
 

 

 

EXISTING SINGLE STORY 
GARAGE STRUCTURE 

 
 

  
 

 

FRANKLIN STREET 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

RIDGELAND 

ASSOCIATES 
INC. 
1 Riverside Road 

GRAPHIC SECTION VIEW 
SK2.0 

 

 
 

Drawing Date 

 

Project Number 

 

Scale 

 
 

2/11/2021 

20064 

3/32" = 1'-0" 

 

Riverside 
Illinois 60546 

708.435.0300 
708.435.0305 fax 
www.ridgelandassociates.com 

F

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 

http://www.ridgelandassociates.com/


 

ARMI
NGT
ON 
FOO
DS 

7419 W FRANKLIN STREET 
FOREST PARK, ILLINOIS 60130 

 
 

This document is an instrument of service and is the sole property of Ridgeland Associates, Inc. It may not be copied, reproduced, altered or reused in whole or in part on any other project without expressed 

written consent from Ridgeland Associates, Inc. 

2021 Ridgeland Associates, Inc. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Not to Scale 



 

2 1 

RIDGELAND 
ASSOCIATES 
INC. 
ARCHITECTS 
DESIGNERS 
PLANNERS 

1 Riverside Rd. 

Riverside 

Illinois 60546 

708.435.0300 

708.435.0305 fax 
www.ridgelandassociates.com 

 
 
 

 

TYPICAL OPAQUE 

WROUGHT IRON METAL FENCING 

 

 

 

 
 

SECTION VIEW 

 

ELEVATION VIEW 

TYPICAL 
  WROUGHT IRON FENCE 

 

 

 

 

 
PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM 

REGISTRATION No. #184-002595 

          NTS  AS2.0           1/2" = 1'-0"  AS2.0      EXPIRATION DATE: 11/30/2022 

SHOWN W/ OPAQUE WOOD/SYNTHETIC SLATS ACTUAL FENCE SYSTEM TO BE VERIFIED 

 

 

 

 
3 

 
20 

 

18 

 
4 

 
 
 

13 3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXISTING 

BUILDING 

 
 

10 

 

 

 

EXISTING 

1-STORY MASONRY 

BUILDING 

 

 

 
 

 
 

11 

10 T 

 

 

WEST PARKING 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
X CONC 

PAD 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2 

 

30 29 

 
 

6 

 

 

 

 
7 

 
9 8 7 6 

2 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 
5 4 3 

 

 
EXISTING 

BUILDING 

 

 

EXISTING 
1-STORY MASONRY 

28 27 26 25 24 

5 

 
16 15 

7 

 
14 13 

 
12 11 10 

BUILDING EAST PARKING 

7 

EXISTING 

BUILDING 

 

 

 

 
Revisions 

 

23 22 21 20 19 18 17 

 

 

 

 
 

6                                                                                                   

   1  

                   (ABOVE)  SIM.  

         3                                        

1 

(ABOVE)  SIM. 

 
Drawing Date 

 

Project Number 

 
03/26/21 

20112 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0  

4'  

8'

 

1

6

' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
32'

 

48' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0 32" 64"  10'-8" 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
21'-

4"

 

32'  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0  2'  4' 8' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
16'

 2

4' 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
3' 6'

 12' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
18' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0  1'  2' 4' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
8' 12' 

U
S
D

A
 

G
U

E
S
T 

G
U

E
S
T 

G
U

E
S
T 

G
U

E
S
T 

R
E
S
E
R

V
E
D

 

R
E
S
E
R

V
E
D

 

F
A

R
M

IN
G

TO
N

 F
O

O
D

S
 

F
E
N

C
E
 P

LA
N

 

7
4

1
9

 W
. 

F
ra

n
k
lin

 S
tr

e
e

t,
 F

o
re

st
 P

a
rk

, 
Ill

in
o

is
 6

0
1

3
0
 

http://www.ridgelandassociates.com/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0  6"  1' 2' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
4' 6' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0  4"  8" 16" 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
32"

 

4' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0  3"  6"

 

1' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2' 3' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0  2"  4" 8" 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
16

"

 

2' 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
0  1"  2"

 

4" 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
8" 1' 

 

 

 

N

O

R

T

H 

 

 

 

 
 

LINEAR 
GRAPHIC BAR 
SCALES 

 
This document  is  an instrument 

of service and  is the   sole   

property   of   Ridgeland   

Associates,   Inc.  I t m a y no t b e 

co p i e d , r e p r o d uce d , a l t e r 

ed or   reused  in   whole   or   in   

part  on   any   other p r o j e c t  w 

i t h o u t  e x p r e s s e d  w r i t t e n  c 

o n s e n t f r o m    R i d g e l a n d    

A s s o c i a t e s ,          I n c . 

 

 
Sheet Name 

 

FARMINGT
ON FOODS 
EXISTING 

CONDITION
S SITE PLAN 

Shee

A
t Number  

S2.0
 

1/16" = 1'-0" 3/32" = 1'-0" 1/8" = 1'-0" 3/16" = 1'-0" 1/4" = 1'-0" 1/2" = 1'-0" 3/4" = 1'-0" 1" = 1'-0" 1 1/2" = 1'-0" 3" = 1'-0" 2020 Ridgeland Associates, Inc. 

 
Recyclable 



 

Village of Forest Park 

Memorandum 

 
TO: Village Council 

 

FROM: Steve Glinke, Director- Building, Planning, & Zoning 

DATE: April 7, 2021 

RE: PC2021-01: 7419 W. Franklin Street 
 

 

The Applicant, Franklin Foods, Inc. (Farmington Foods), is requesting an amendment to the Planned 

Development granted by Ordinance No. O-35-15 in 2015 to allow the construction of an approximately 

8,666 square foot addition (approximately 4,333 square feet over two floors) that will connect two 

existing buildings on the southeastern part of the site. Per 9-6-8 of the Forest Park Zoning Ordinance, 

the proposed addition constitutes “major changes” to the approved Planned Development due to an 

increase in overall coverage of the site that exceeds 5%. 

 

The Plan Commission held a public hearing regarding this request on February 1, 2021. The Plan 

Commission recommended approval with a direction to staff to work with the applicant on five 

issues: 
1. Idling trucks 

2. On-site circulation including truck hours and traffic 

3. Screening along Franklin Street (visual and noise) 

4. Roof deck 

5. Odor 

 

Subsequent to the Plan Commission public hearing, the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning, 

the Village Planner, and the Village Attorney worked with the applicant’s attorney to address these 

issues along with issues raised by neighbors and to ensure compliance with the original PD agreement. 

The attached Plan Commission staff report, draft Ordinance, and draft Planned Development 

Agreement provide additional information on the proposal and staff’s consensus on final 

recommendations. Staff is proposing 17 conditions related to on-site circulation, hours restrictions on 

refrigeration units, roof deck, screening along Franklin Street, and the establishment  of a “community 

contact representative” at Franklin Foods to address neighbor concerns. Through a collaborative effort, 

several meetings, and significant email correspondence in the last two months, the applicant concurs 

with some but not all of the conditions proposed by staff. The applicant has detailed these points in 

two documents included in the Village Board packet. One such example is  the clearance for the 

proposed fence along Franklin Street. The proposed condition requires 15 feet  of open fence from 

either side of an access point to provide visibility for incoming and outgoing trucks and vehicles. This 

proposed condition is based on a recommendation from the Village Engineer. The applicant is 

proposing 25 feet and the current Fence Plan included in the planned development exhibits reflects 

this. 



 

ZBA 2004-06 

Page 2 

 
Staff stands by the conditions set forth in the draft ordinance. The neighborhood has changed 

significantly since Farmington first came to Forest Park and on site operations have accelerated in 

scope and land usage. Quality of life impacts on the surrounding residential neighborhood demand 

equal weight and some measure of compromise. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Summary of Open Issues as of April 7, 2021 

 

Planned Unit Development Ordinance Amendment  

And 

First Amendment to Planned Unit Development Agreement  

Between the Village of Forest Park (VFP) and Franklin Consolidated, LLC 

(Property Owner) and Farmington Foods, Inc. (Operator of Property) 

 

The VFP Staff has proposed four demands that are restrictions upon Farmington Foods necessary 

operations as an essential food business and one demand that negatively impacts safety as follows 

(collectively, VFP Demands). In bold font below are certain Farmington Proposals that Farmington 

submitted to the VFP Staff and VFP counsel (Farmington Proposals). The numbers below correspond to 

provisions of Section 3 of the PUD Agreement Amendment and Section 7 of the PUD Ordinance 

Amendment that comprise conditions and restrictions. Following each Farmington Proposal are the VFP 

Demands (in italics) with the unresolved differences in red font. Following each VFP Demand are 

Farmington’s explanations of its position. 

Additionally, attached to this document are the 18 conditions that wills be included in the approval 

ordinance and agreement, and we have blacklined them to show Farmington’s proposed changes to the 

VFP Demands, each of which is described further below. 

 

 

1. The Company will use reasonable measures to minimize truck transports between buildings on 

the Subject Property from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. 

 

Except for deliveries, the on-site truck relocation will be prohibited between buildings on the Subject 

Property from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. 

 

As an essential food business, operating in compliance with and subject to the ongoing daily inspection 

of the USDA as well as in accordance with it SQF Level II Food Safety Certification, Farmington operates 

24/7 schedules. Farmington will commit to managing reasonable measures to minimize truck transports 

between buildings on the Subject Property from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. Although minimizing such truck 

transports between buildings aligns with efficient operations, such transports are necessary. The 7419 

addition does not impact truck transports between buildings. 

 

 

2. Other than trucks of standard delivery services such as UPS, Federal Express, and Amazon, trucks 

delivering materials to the Company will not park or idle between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. on either side 

of the Franklin Street and Circle Avenue frontages of the Subject Property. 

 

Other than trucks of standard delivery services such as UPS, Federal Express, and Amazon, trucks 

delivering materials to the Company will not be permitted to park nor idle between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 

a.m. on either side of the Franklin Street and Circle Avenue frontages of the Subject Property. 

 

We believe we are in substantial agreement and have committed to the investment of additional signage 

in accordance with our proposed plans to help limit the momentarily lost or miss-guided 

  

truck driver; however, this seems to be more appropriate for local traffic law enforcement which we 

would welcome. Farmington is not in a position to not “permit” such activity on Village right-of-way 

even though it is believed to be very much properly controlled at present. 

 

 

5. No truck refrigerator units are to be used at the western-facing loading docks at the southeast corner 

of the Subject Property. 

 

No truck refrigerator units are to be used at the loading docks of the Subject Property between the hours 

of 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. 



 

 

The VFP demand extends to the entire property between the hours of 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. Such VFP 

demand is incompatible with necessary operations. The Farmington proposal is, in fact, more restrictive 

at the western-facing loading docks at the southeast corner of the Subject Property as written because the 

restriction is for 24 hours of each day. 

 

For the entire history of the food companies operating along Franklin and Circle Streets, truck refrigerator 

units have been in use and necessary for food safety and maintenance of the cold chain. As part of 

Farmington’s proposals, it has committed to the elimination of 3 western-facing loading docks at the 

southeast corner of the Subject Property and the elimination of truck refrigerator units at these 3 

remaining western-facing loading docks. One of the 3 existing and remaining loading docks is currently 

used and will continue to be used for a refuse compactor. The 7419 addition does not impact truck 

refrigerator units. 

 

 

12. The applicant will remove the current chain link fence/barbed wire fence and replace it with a 

combination of wrought-iron like open fence and wrought-iron like with infilled synthetic slats or wood 

slats, as depicted in the Proposed Fence Plan, along the southern perimeter of the Subject Property. The 

fence materials will provide visual and noise screening for the portions of the property that are beyond 

25 feet from the west and center entrances to the Subject Property. The Company shall install traffic 

control warning signs at the entrances, to control both truck ingress and egress and warning pedestrians. 

The final fence to be constructed is subject to final review and approval by the Director of Building, 

Planning, and Zoning for compliance with the Proposed Fence Plan. 

 

The applicant will remove the current chain link fence/barbed wire fence and replace it with a 

combination of wrought-iron like open fence and wrought-iron like with infilled synthetic slats, as 

depicted in the Proposed Fence Plan, along the southern perimeter of the Subject Property. The fence 

materials will provide visual and noise screening for the portions of the property that are beyond fifteen 

(15) feet from the west and center entrances to the Subject Property. No trucks shall be permitted to park 

on the Subject Property adjacent to the open areas of the fence along Franklin. The Company shall install 

traffic control warning signs at the entrances, to control both truck ingress and egress and warning 

pedestrians. The final fence to be constructed is subject to final review and approval by the Director of 

Building, Planning, and Zoning for compliance with the Proposed Fence Plan. 

 

As a result of our commitment to work with the VFP Staff after the 02/01/21 unanimous approval of our 

Project by the VFP Plan Commission and our commitment to be good neighbors in our community, 

Farmington agreed to invest in the replacement of the existing fence. After significant 

  

evaluation and in conjunction with our traffic consultants we determined that a wrought-iron like fence 

with a combination of both open pickets and infilled slats would achieve multiple good results including 

safety, aesthetics, and function. Our original determination and proposal was for 30’ open pickets on 

either side of the west and center entrances and then infilled slats for the balance. At the VFP Staff’s 

insistence, we reevaluated and reduced to 27’ and then finally to 25’. The VFP Staff is insisting on 15’ 
which may seem insignificant; however, in our view 25’ is significantly safer for pedestrians, cars and 

trucks as it allows all approaching the entrances to have more visibility for more time. With more than 

hundreds of years of collective experiences crossing the sidewalk and street, we are certain that 25’ is 

both reasonable and safer than just 15’. Walkers, runners, and cyclists share the sidewalk and street and 

the faster the rate of speed the more important are longer site lines. 

 

The VFP Staff demanded prohibition of truck parking on Farmington’s side of its proposed newly 

installed fence is unnecessary and there is nothing about the 7419 addition that should impact parking of 

trucks adjacent to the new fence. The existing PUD already provides for restrictions of truck parking for 

which Farmington complies. 

  

 

 



 

CONDITIONS FOR PD AMENDMENT AND PD AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 

FARMINGTON PROPOSED CHANGES 

 

1. The Company will use reasonable measures to minimize truck transports Except for deliveries, 

the on-site truck relocation will be prohibited between buildings on the Subject Property from 10:00 p.m. 

to 6:00 a.m. 

2. The applicant shall install new directional off-site and on-site signage for truck movements as 

provided in the Truck Operations Plan and subject to final review and approval by the Village Engineer 

and the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

3. Trucks are required to continue to enter and exit from the west except when using loading docks 

at the southeast corner of the Subject Property. 

4. Other than trucks of standard delivery services such as UPS, Federal Express, and Amazon, trucks 

delivering materials to the Company will not be permitted to park nor idle between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 

a.m. on either side of the Franklin Street and Circle Avenue frontages of the Subject Property. 

5. No truck refrigerator units are to be used at the western-facing loading docks at the southeast 

corner of the Subject Property between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. 

6. No cooking is to take place within the 7419 building, including the proposed addition and in no 

event shall food processing operations be expanded into the connected garage structure, without an 

amendment to the Original PUD Ordinance and PUD Agreement, as amended. 

7. The hours and operation/occupancy for the roof deck shall be limited to 6:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. 

8. The roof deck is limited to 753 square feet in size and shall be in substantial conformance with 

the Project Plans. 

9. Roof deck lighting shall be “down lighting” subject to final review and approval by the Director 

of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

10. The final material of the 6’ screen of the roof deck will be as depicted in the Roof Deck Graphic 

Section View SK 4.0, subject to review and approval by the Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

11. Landscaping per the original PUD that has died or is depleted will be replaced before the issuance 

of a final Certificate of Occupancy, subject to seasonal planting restrictions and approval of the Director 

of Building, Planning, and Zoning. 

12. The applicant will remove the current chain link fence/barbed wire fence and replace it with a 

combination of wrought-iron like open fence and wrought-iron like with infilled synthetic or wood slats, 

as depicted in the Proposed Fence Plan, along the southern perimeter of the Subject Property. The fence 

materials will provide visual and noise screening for the portions of the property that are beyond 25 

fifteen (15) feet from the west and center entrances to the Subject Property. No trucks shall be permitted 

to park on the Subject Property adjacent to the open areas of the fence along Franklin. The Company 

shall install traffic control warning signs at the entrances, to control both truck ingress and egress and 

warning pedestrians. The final fence to be constructed is subject to final review and approval by the 

Director of Building, Planning, and Zoning for compliance with the Proposed Fence Plan. 

13. The applicant will identify a “Community Contact Representative” who will be primarily 

responsible for monitoring and promptly responding to messages received. The name, phone number, 

and email of a specific person shall be provided to the Director of Building, Planning & Zoning and listed 

on the company website. Additionally, a 24-hour phone number shall be prominently listed on the 

company’s website. 

14. A construction schedule shall be submitted prior to the issuance of a building permit. 

  

15. All construction shall comply with the Building Code of the Village of Forest Park, with final 

plans subject to review and approval by the Village Engineer and the Director of Building, Planning, and 

Zoning. 

16. Final engineering shall be approved by the Village’s consulting engineer prior to issuance of 

building permits for the exterior work. 

17. No building permits and no Certificate of Occupancy for the Subject Property shall be issued by 

the Department of Public Health and Safety to the Owner unless all debts owed to the Village of Forest 

Park by the Owner have been paid in full prior to the issuance of such permits or certificates. 

18. Any violation of the above conditions will result in a violation of the Municipal code of the 

Village of Forest Park and the owner may be subject to fines for each day said violation exists. 

 



 

 

 



 

RESOLUTION NO. R-  -21 

 
A RESOLUTION APPOINTING SALVATORE STELLA AS THE 

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS FOR THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, ILLINOIS 
 

WHEREAS, Section 4-5-5 of the Illinois Municipal Code (65 ILCS 5/4-5-5) authorizes the 

Council to appoint officers necessary to carry into effect the powers conferred upon the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the current Director of Public Works, John Doss, is retiring; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Administrator has recommended to the Council, for its advice and 

consent to the nomination of Salvatore Stella to serve as the Director of Public Works, effective July 

1, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, Sections 4-4-1 and 4-4-2 of the Illinois Municipal Code (65 ILCS 5/4-4-1, 4-4- 

 
2) requires that before entering upon the duties of their respective offices, all officers shall take and 

subscribe the oath or affirmation prescribed by the Illinois Constitution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, 

Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1. The facts and statements contained in the preambles to this Resolution  are 
 

found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this Resolution. 

 
Section 2. The City Administrator has recommended, and the Council hereby appoints, 

 

Salvatore Stella to serve as Director of Public Works of the Village of Forest Park, effective July 1, 

2021. 

Section 3. The Mayor shall be and is hereby authorized and directed to execute and file 
 

with the Village Clerk the Certificate of Appointment of Salvatore Stella, a copy of which is attached 

hereto as Exhibit A. 

Section 4. Upon Salvatore Stella’s taking and subscribing the Oath of Office and 
 

satisfying all other qualifications of office, the Mayor and Village Clerk shall be and is hereby 

 
986511_1 



 

authorized and directed to execute and file with the Village Clerk the Warrant of Commission of 

Salvatore Stella, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

Section 5. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval 
 

in accordance with law. 

 

ADOPTED by the Council of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, this 12th day 

of April, 2021. 

 

AYES:    
 

NAYS:    
 

ABSENT:    
 

 

 

 
 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 
 

 

ATTESTED, filed in my office and published 

in pamphlet form this  day of April, 2021. 
 

 

 

 
 

Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 

COUNTY OF COOK ) ss. 

VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK ) 

 
CERTIFICATE OF APPOINTMENT 

 
 

TO: Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 

 
I, Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, do hereby 

certify that Salvatore Stella has been duly appointed by the Council of the Village of Forest Park on 

the 12th day of April, 2021 to the office of Director of Public Works of the Village of Forest Park, 

Illinois, effective July 1, 2021, for a term not to exceed that of the current Mayor of the Village of 

Forest Park and/or until his successor shall have been duly appointed and qualified. 

 

Given under my hand and the Corporate Seal of Forest Park, Illinois, this 12th day of April, 

2021. 
 

 

 

 
 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 

Village of Forest Park, Illinois 



 

EXHIBIT B 
 

WARRANT OF COMMISSION 

FOR THE OFFICE OF DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS 

OF THE VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK, ILLINOIS 

 

STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 

COUNTY OF COOK ) ss. 

VILLAGE OF FOREST PARK ) 

 

TO ALL TO WHOM THESE PRESENTS SHALL COME: 

 

I, Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor of the Village of Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, a municipal 

corporation, hereby certify that Salvatore Stella, having been duly appointed by the Council of the 

Village of Forest Park on the 12th day of April, 2021, is hereby commissioned by this warrant to 

assume the duties of Director of Public Works, on behalf of the Village of Forest Park, Illinois, 

effective July 1, 2021, for a term not to exceed that of the current Mayor of the Village of Forest Park 

and/or until his successor shall have been duly appointed and qualified and is hereby fully authorized 

and empowered to assume and perform all the duties of said office according to law and the 

ordinances of this Village. 

 

Given under my hand and the Corporate Seal of Forest Park, Illinois, this 12th day of April, 

2021. 
 

 

 

 
 

Rory E. Hoskins, Mayor 

Village of Forest Park, Illinois 
 

 

 

 

[Seal] 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 

Village of Forest Park, Illinois 



987083_1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. R -  - 21 

 

A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND AUTHORIZE THE EXECUTION OF A 

COVID-19 SUPPORT SERVICES REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT BY AND 

BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AND 

REGIONAL SECURITY OF THE COUNTY OF COOK AND THE VILLAGE OF 

FOREST PARK FOR THE REIMBURSEMENT OF ELIGIBLE COVID-19 EXPENSES 
 

WHEREAS, the County of Cook (the “County”) and the Village of Forest Park ( the 

“Village”) wish to enter into a certain COVID-19 Support Services Reimbursement Agreement (the 

“Agreement”) for the reimbursement by the County to the Village of eligible overtime police and fire 

personnel expenses associated with the staffing by the Village at the COVID-19 vaccination center 

located at 7600 West Roosevelt Road, Forest Park, Illinois, a copy of which is attached hereto as 

Exhibit A and made a part hereof; and 

WHEREAS, the County, a unit of local government, and the Village, a unit of local 

government, have the authority pursuant to Article7, Section 10 the 1970 Illinois Constitution and 

the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5/ILCS 220/1 et seq. to enter into such Agreement; 

and 

WHEREAS, it is deemed necessary and desirable for the Village to enter into said 

Agreement with the County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the corporate authorities of the Village of 

Forest Park, Cook County, Illinois, as follows: 

Section 1: That the corporate authorities hereby incorporate the foregoing    preamble 
 

clauses into this Resolution. 

 
Section 2: That the Agreement for the reimbursement of eligible overtime police and fire 

 

personnel expenses associated with the staffing by the Village at the COVID-19 vaccination center 



987083_1 
 

located at 7600 West Roosevelt Road, Forest Park, Illinois, a copy of which is attached hereto as 

Exhibit A and made a part hereof, is hereby approved. 

Section 3: The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute and the Village Clerk 
 

is hereby authorized and directed to attest on behalf of the Village the Agreement with the County. 

 
Section 4: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect upon its passage and approval 

 

in accordance with law. 

 
ADOPTED this  day of April, 2021. 

AYES:    

NAYS:   
 

ABSENT:   
 

 

 

 
 

Mayor Rory E. Hoskins 
 

 

Attested and filed in my office 

and published in pamphlet form 

this  day of April, 2021. 
 

 

 

Vanessa Moritz, Village Clerk 



987083_1 
 

Exhibit A 
 

COVID-19 Support Services Reimbursement Agreement 

By and Between 

The County of Cook 

And 

The Village of Forest Park, Illinois 

for Reimbursement of Eligible Overtime Police and Fire Personnel Expenses 

Associated with the Staffing by the Village at the COVID-19 Vaccination Center 

Located at 7600 West Roosevelt Road, Forest Park, Illinois 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



987083_1 
 

 



 

 
 

 

 
 

Thursday, April 1, 2021 

The Honorable Mayor Rory Hoskins 

Village of Forest Park 

517 Des Plaines Avenue 

Forest Park, IL 60130 

 
RE: District 91 Street Banners for Project Kindness 

 
Dear Mayor Hoskins and Commissioners: 

 
Forest Park School District 91 requests your permission to hang banners to promote the third annual 

Kindness Week event, a community-wide initiative to help our students understand the importance of 

showing kindness to others and to encourage kindness throughout Forest Park. 

 
The banner request is for two weeks, at the corners of Circle and Madison and Des Plaines and Madison, 

between April 19 and April 30, to help remind residents throughout Forest Park about Kindness Week. 

 
To promote Kindness Week, students will design unique posters to place in the windows of their homes. 

Retailers, in turn, will be asked to place Kindness Week posters in their store windows. 

 
Thank you for your consideration. 

Sincerely, 

Scott P. Dunnell 

Scott P. Dunnell 

Public Relations and Communications Manager 

Forest Park School District 91 



 

 

 
 

 

hwwcrop.org 
 

 

Date: March 29. 2021 
 

To: Village of Forest Park 
 

From: Hunger Walkathon West (your local CROP Hunger Walk) 

Joanne Despotes, Event Coordinator 

708-209-1377; jdespotes@gmail.com 
 

We ask permission to have a banner announcing our 2021 Walk hung at the 

intersection of Circle and Madison for two weeks from 4/17 to 5/1. 

 

Hunger Walkathon West is in its 38th year. In 2020 we raised $100,000 and in our 37 

year history we have raised over $1.7 million. 25% of the funds are distributed to local 

area hunger fighting agencies including Forest Park Food Pantry, Proviso Food Pantry, 

and Housing Forward. 75% is used in the national and international relief and 

development programs of CWS-Global. 

 
We appreciate your support. 

mailto:jdespotes@gmail.com


 

 



 

From: Alicia Hammond [mailto:ahammond@fppl.org] 
Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 8:25 AM 
To: Tanzla Davis-Rodriguez <tdavis-rodriguez@forestpark.net> 
Subject: Re: Request For Use 

 

 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when 

opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 
 

Hi Tanzla, 

The Library would also like to request use of Constitution Court for two two-hour time periods 

in the summer. 

 

The dates are Saturday, June 5 & Sunday, July 18 from 12-2 pm. 

 

We would like to do a socially distanced drop in puppet show. They would be short sessions 

where kids come up lasting no more than 5-10 minutes. The 2 Library staff members would be 

wearing masks the entire time. 

 

Should I have Pilar write a letter like we did with the yoga or would you prefer the form you 

referenced? 

Thanks so much! 

Best, 

Alicia 

mailto:ahammond@fppl.org
mailto:tdavis-rodriguez@forestpark.net
mailto:tdavis-rodriguez@forestpark.net

